Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

International Journal of Biological Macromolecules

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/ijbiomac



Polyhydroxyalkanoates: Next generation natural biomolecules and a solution for the world's future economy



Salma Shahid^{a,*}, Sadia Razzaq^b, Robina Farooq^b, Zill-i-Huma Nazli^b

^a Department of Biochemistry, Government College Women University Faisalabad, Pakistan

^b Department of Chemistry, Government College Women University Faisalabad, Pakistan

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 18 July 2020 Received in revised form 21 October 2020 Accepted 23 October 2020 Available online 27 October 2020

Keywords: Polyhydroxyalkanoates Biodegradable Biocompatible Polyesters Biomedical applications Self-healing

ABSTRACT

Petrochemical plastics have become a cause of pollution for decades and finding alternative plastics that are environmental friendly. Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA), a biopolyester produced by microbial cells, has characteristics (biocompatible, biodegradable, non-toxic) that make it appropriate as a biodegradable plastic substance. The different forms of PHA make it suitable to a wide choice of products, from packaging materials to biomedical applications. The major challenge in commercialization of PHA is the cost of manufacturing. There are a lot of factors that could affect the efficiency of a development method. The development of new strategic parameters for better synthesis, including consumption of low cost carbon substrates, genetic modification of PHA-producing strains, and fermentational strategies are discussed. Recently, many efforts have been made to develop a method for the cost-effective production of PHAs. The isolation, analysis as well as characterization of PHAs are significant factors for any developmental process. Due to the biodegradable and biocompatible properties of PHAs, they are majorly used in biomedical applications such as vascular grafting, heart tissue engineering, skin tissue repairing, liver tissue engineering, nerve tissue engineering, bone tissue engineering, cartilage tissue engineering and therapeutic carrier. The emerging and interesting area of research is the development of self-healing biopolymer that could significantly broaden the operational life and protection of the polymeric materials for a broad range of uses. Biodegradable and biocompatible polymers are considered as the green materials in place of petroleumbased plastics in the future.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

1.	Gener	ral presentation, historical outline and properties of PHA	8
	1.1.	Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA)	8
	1.2.	Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) market	9
	1.3.	Historical outline of PHA.	9
	1.4.	Monomer composition and types of PHA	9
	1.5.	Types of PHA	9
	1.6.	Structure of PHA granules	0
	1.7.	Properties of PHA	0
2.	Produ	icers of PHA, biosynthesis pathways and physiology	2
	2.1.	PHA accumulating microorganisms	2
	2.2.	PHA biosynthesis pathways in microorganisms	3
	2.3.	Regulation of gene expression	4
	2.4.	Aerobic and anaerobic biodegradation	6
	2.5.	Biodegradation of PHA.	7
3.	Subst	rates	7
4.	Ferme	entation process development for PHA production	8
5.	Extra	ction of polyhydroxyalkanoates.	9

* Corresponding author at: Govt College Women University Faisalabad, Arfa Kareem Road, 38000 Madina Town, Pakistan. *E-mail address*: dr.salmashahid@gcwuf.edu.pk (S. Shahid).

	5.1.	Solvent extraction	309
	5.2.	Floatation method	309
	5.3.	Digestion method	309
	5.4.	Supercritical fluid extraction	309
	5.5.	Sonication method	309
	5.6.	Biological digestion of non-PHA biomass by animals	310
6.	Chara	acterization and quantification of PHA	310
	6.1.	Observations of PHA granules	310
	6.2.	Microbial and PHA analysis by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR)	310
	6.3.	PHA analysis by gas chromatography (GC)	311
	6.4.	PHA analysis by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)	312
	6.5.	PHA analysis by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR)	312
7.	Applic	cations of PHA	313
	7.1.	Biomedical applications of PHA	313
		7.1.1. Vascular grafting	315
		7.1.2. Heart tissue engineering	315
		7.1.3. Skin tissue repairing	315
		7.1.4. Liver tissue engineering	315
		7.1.5. Nerve tissue engineering.	315
		7.1.6. Bone tissue engineering	316
		7.1.7. Cartilage tissue engineering	316
		7.1.8. Therapeutic carrier	316
8.	Self-h	nealing biopolymers: a new era in the field of biopolymers	316
	8.1.	Molecular interdiffusion	316
	8.2.	Photo-induced healing.	317
	8.3.	Recombination of chain ends	317
	8.4.	Self-healing via reversible bond formation	317
9.	Conclu	lusion and future perspective	317
Refe	rences	······································	318

1. General presentation, historical outline and properties of PHA

1.1. Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA)

Petrochemical plastics are manipulated in various utilizations like plastic pots, vessels, things for refreshment wrapping and as biomaterials [1]. They characterize a major part of wastes and their perseverance in the environment [2]. Many societies are responsive to the negative outcome of these products, including hazardous ones, e.g. pollution on animal life and on natural surroundings of ecosystems, human diseases, etc. In distinction to these conventional plastics, polyhydroxyalkanoates are biopolymers which are produced and catabolised via a variety of microorganisms. These biopolymers can be accumulated in microbial cells under nutrient-unbalanced conditions [3]. The most broadly synthesized bacterial bioplastics are majorly polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) and their types. PHA are a class of biopolyesters, made up of short chain length like; 3-hydroxybutyrate as well as medium chain length monomeric constituents like; 3-hydroxyoctanoate along with 3-hydroxydecanoate, synthesized from a huge number of strains as an energy and carbon storage compound as well as the enhancement of stress robustness of the bacterial cells [4]. Recently, PHA have received significant awareness due to opportunity of production from carbon substrates, like; vegetable oils and sugars [5]. These compounds do not produce harmful results in host body and have definite benefits such as biocompatibility and biodegradability over petroleum-derived plastics. A general molecular composition of PHA is given in outline Fig. 1.1. Several substituents can also be incorporated into the side chains [6].

Biopolymers (bioplastics) have gained significance since the decade of 1940. A great number of polylactic acids (PLA), open chain polyethylene terephthalate, polysaccharides as well as fusions of these substrates have also been established effectively until [8] today. These have been used as a replacement of conventional materials, e.g. metals, wood, glass and other tools of construction in various household, industrial and basic environmental uses [2]. Out of all these types of decomposable/biodegradeable plastics, PHA have been illustrating great interest due of their component characteristics which are comparable to the petroleum based plastics [9]. Their durability, stability, mechanical and thermal properties have played a significant role for their use on industrial scale [10]. In instead of these properties of PHA over the petroleumbased plastics, their use is now restricted because of maximum charges of formation [11]. The production of PHA from easily accessible carbon sources like; agricultural wastes, corn, cassava etc. would also be complimentary with respect to both cost-effective and environmental point of view. PHA are degraded at a high rate (duration about 90–270 days) converted into CO₂ along with H₂O by many microorganisms by their own secreted PHA hydrolases [12]. The improved properties of PHA that blends with natural raw materials or other biodegradable polymers, including starch, cellulose derivatives, lignin, poly (lactic acid), polycaprolactone and different PHA-type blends have significant role in biomedical applications [13]. A natural blend of P(3HB)/mcl-PHA that can be processed into films suitable for applications ranging from commodity packaging products to high-value biomaterials. The films showed no significant change in mass or volume during immersion in deionized water, exhibiting only negligible swelling degrees (below 5%), which is in agreement with their hydrophobic nature [14].

Like PHB, PLA also belongs to the family of biodegradable polyesters and finds its application in different areas due to its biodegradability, biocompatibility and sustainability. It is reported that both PLA and PHB are brittle at room temperature and process poor processing



Fig. 1.1. General structure of polyhydroxyalkanoate [7] n: degree of polymerization.

properties [15]. As part of improving their mechanical properties and processing characteristics, several strategies have been tried by researchers, and blending PLA with PHB is one among them. These studies proved that the miscibility between PLA and PHB depends on the molecular weight of the minor component in the blend system. In case of high molecular weight blend components, PLA is immiscible with PHB in all compositions. Also it was concluded that the mechanical properties of the blends are intermediate between those of the individual blend components. The effect of processing conditions on the miscibility, crystallization and melting behavior and morphology of blends of PHB and PLA with and without poly (vinyl acetate) (PVAc) was studied by El-Hadi [16]. The results showed that blending PHB with PLA is a cost effective method to improve the mechanical properties of PLA as the 75/ 25 blend of PLA/PHB showed significant improvement in mechanical properties compared with pure PLA.

Another economic assessment revealed that a wood-PHA composite as a drop-in alternative WPC product could cost as little as 37% of the cost of its neat PHA counterpart. Thus, wood plastic composites (WPCs) with PHA offer a means to access benefits of PHA in engineering applications at reduced costs; however, further developments are required to improve strain at failure. The WPC global market was as high as 3.0 million tonnes/year in 2014, and is forecast to double by 2020 [17]. The successful adoption of wood-PHA composites into the market is furthermore reliant on support from public sector to encourage biodegradable products where recycling is not a ready solution.

Blending of biodegradable polymers as well as using low-price organic fillers aiming to produce cost-effective composites, besides being an alternative to solve pollution issues, might be a method of developing products with superior mechanical properties. Moreover, the natural and cost-effective Babassu filler was added to the polyhydroxybutyrate and poly(butylene adipate-co-terephatalate) PHB/PBAT blends. Babassu is a palm tree naturally found in the North, Northeast and Midwest regions of Brazil. Its fruits are composed by a protective shell rich in lignin and cellulosic material. Usually, the shell is discarded and burnt, i.e., it is a material with no added value. PBAT/PHB/Babassu composites are biodegradable, environmental friendly, and cost effective, products based on these compounds have a great potential since their mechanical properties such as ductility, stiffness, and tensile strength are still suitable for several applications even at lower temperatures $(-40 \degree C)$. Therefore, its use in polymer composites, beyond scientific and technological improvements can yield economic benefits [18].

1.2. Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) market

Estimated at USD 57 million in 2019, the global polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) market size is projected to reach USD 98 by 2024, growing at a CAGR of 11.2%. Europe is the key market for PHA, globally, followed by North America and APAC. The short-chain length type is estimated to lead the PHA market in terms of value and volume. The growing awareness regarding plastic waste creation resulting in an ecological imbalance has changed the market sentiments positively towards sustainable products, hence creating a surge in demand for biodegradable plastics. This factor plays a crucial role in increasing the demand for short-chain length and medium-chain length PHA. Europe is expected to account for the largest market share in PHA during the forecast period, in terms of value. The presence of various PHA players, such as Bio-on (Italy), Biomer (Germany), Natureplast (France), ColorFabb (Netherlands), and EarthBi (Germany), has a positive impact the market [19]. Additionally, the growing use of biodegradable plastic in packaging & food service, bio-medical, and agriculture applications in the region is augmenting the demand for PHAs [20].

1.3. Historical outline of PHA

A brief historical outline of PHA production is shown in Fig. 1.2. First stage of research comprised of discovery of short chain length PHA (scl-

PHA). Lemoigne [21] from 1926 to 1944 confirmed the occurrence of the biopolymer (PHB, polyhydroxybutyrate) in the genus *Bacillus* comprising *B. megaterium, B. anthracis and B. mycoides* as well as *Azotobacter chroococcum* [22–24] In the following years, the granules of PHB had been detached from protoplasm in 1942 [25] and their role because of an intracellular alternative for energy and carbon was determined during 1958 [26]. In 1973, discovered to facilitate PHB which could be accumulated up to 70% of the dry mass of bacterial cells, under different nutritional and ecological conditions [27]. De Smet et al [28] in 1983 shown the production of another monomer of PHA, 3-hydroxyoctanoate (3HO) from *Pseudomonas oleovorans*.

Moreover, some other hydroxyalkanoate (HA) units including 4hydroxyalkanoate (4HA) [29] and 5-hydroxyalkamoate (5HA) [30] were revealed. These results were therefore marked as the commencement of the second developmental stage [31] of research in the field of PHA (Fig. 1.2).

The third phase of research concerned the cloning of genes and classification of enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of PHA. Gerngross confirmed that PHA synthase enzyme was situated on exterior body of PHB particle during its development first time in 1993 [32].

The 4th stage comprises the advances in the science and technological improvement of PHA. In this stage, researchers entered into the era of biotechnology, protein engineering, analytical and organic chemistry (Fig. 1.2). Efforts have been prepared to produce PHA industrially from those strains which were not able to produce PHA naturally. For this function, genes accountable for the synthesis of these polyesters were introduced to these strains. A recombinant *Escherichia coli* strain was found to develop speedily and to produce high yields of PHB and mcl PHA in different cultural conditions [33].

The 5TH stage comprises the advancement in optimized upstream processing, efficient, sustainable product and recovery from microbial biomass. Efforts have been prepared for the bioreactor development, bioprocess engineering, process regime, and fermentation mode. Next is the formation of PHA-based composites and blends with other fillers or polymers also bioprocess analysis in silicon approaches. More studies on genetic engineering will lead to the generation of new products produced by recombinant halophiles. The PHA granules synthesized by *Halomonas* spp. can also be produced in large size for convenient separation and drying processes [34]. Halophilic bacteria were found able to grow in open and continuous fermentation processes in unsterile seawater medium without contamination for at least two months [35]. This will promote the emerging "Next Generation Industrial Biotechnology" or NGIB for bio-production with reduced cost and thus improved competitiveness.

1.4. Monomer composition and types of PHA

PHA can be normally composed of a linear/Straight, head-to-tail polyester comprising of hydroxy fatty acids [36]. It is accumulated as intracellular granules ($0.2 \,\mu\text{m} - 0.5 \,\mu\text{m}$) in the cytoplasm by various microorganisms. Each granule contains 10^3 to 10^4 polymer chains [37]. Methyl-carbonyl group connections in PHA make a firm and stable helix. Majorly they are optically active having a chiral centre but 4-hydroxybutyrate is not optically active (Fig. 1.3a).PHA differ in structure, physical and chemical characteristics, monomeric constitution, number and mass of particles depending on type of microorganism and culture conditions.

1.5. Types of PHA

Because of carbon chain length, PHA can be classified in two different kinds:

ScI-PHA those contain C_3 or C_5 monomers (outline Fig. 1.3b) e.g. polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB) and PHV poly (3-hydroxyvalerate). Their properties are correlated to traditional petro-chemical plastics.



Fig. 1.2. Advancement of PHA in science and technology through 20th and 21th century [31].

PHB is the commonly used participant of PHA family. It is an carbon and energy storing compound generally stored when a fundamental nutriting element like; phosphorous, nitrogen, oxygen and sulphur are restricted during the existence of maximum carbon substrate [8].Their physical and mechanical properties were found related to polypropylene, although, its percentages of elongation to break is less than polypropylene as well as tailoring the composition of PHA on the level of the monomeric constituents [38] (Table 1.1). Thus, PHB is a breakable and crystalline material [39]. Copolymers of PHB are produced using different substrates together. When valeric acid and glucose are used together as substrates, PHBV copolymer is synthesized (Fig. 1.3a). This polymer shows isodimorphism with HB and 3 HV monomers [40]. In addition, high level of 3 HV monomer as compared to HB monomer content decreases the affinity to break during elongation.

Mcl-PHA contains C_6 to C_{14} monomeric units (Fig. 1.3c), e.g. PHHx, PHO, PHD. Some mcl-PHAs are semi crystalline and some are completely amorphous hetropolymers. They have a typically low glass transition temperature and comprising elastoplastic characteristics which differentiates them from scl-PHA.

Copolymers of PHA comprise of 3-hydroxybutyrate, 3hydroxyvalerate, 3-hydroxyhexanoate as well as 4-hydroxybutyrate monomeric constituents are also reported in the literature [41]. Blends of scl-PHA as well as mcl-PHA are favoured for the industrial uses because of their developed physical properties e.g. crystallinity, and elongation to break, etc. (Table 1.1). For a carbonated substrate having an odd number of carbon atom, PHA copolymers with only C-odd monomers are produced. On the other hand, only C-even monomers are found in the copolymers if carbonated substrate has even digital value of carbon atoms. Low substrate specificity of PHA synthases (from various bacteria) supports the variety of biosynthetic PHA. This results in the formation of monomers having unusually branched, unsaturated or aromatic side groups [42]. By adding supplement compounds or substituted side chain carbon sources, functional groups (for example hydroxyl, carboxylic, epoxy, phenoxy groups, and halogens) could be included into the side chain.

1.6. Structure of PHA granules

In general, microorganisms start to accumulate PHA under circumstances of metabolic pressure/stress like; limited accessibility of vital nutrient component (e.g. oxygen, phosphorus and nitrogen). PHA is stored in the shape of grains in a microbial cell as a carbon as well as energy storage components. As given in Fig. 1.4, PHA pellets are bounded through a phospholipids uni layer incorporated, various enzymes (like PHA polymerizing enzyme along with PHA depolymerising enzyme) as well as structural proteins known as phasins [31]. Carbon starvation or alteration in the environmental pH stimulates PHA depolymerases to discharge 3-hydroxyalkanoic acids [43].

The abundant proteins in grains are phasins, few of them performing as transcriptional controllers/regulators. Phasins are thought to be noncatalytic proteins consisting of hydrophobic and hydrophilic domains. Hydrophobic domain is bounded by PHA surface body of pellets as well as hydrophilic zone is visibled in cytoplasm of bacteria. The amphiphilic coating of phasins balances PHA pellets and stops them from merging. PHA pellets can be detected intracellular because of lighttwisting pellets through phase contrast microscopy as well as electron-clearness drops through TEM (outline Fig. 1.4a).

1.7. Properties of PHA

PHA may be rigid and highly crystalline, flexible, amorphous or elastomeric [46]. Their melting temperatures range as of 30–180 °C (Table 1.1). PHA monomeric units with linear, branched, aromatic side chains, saturated and unsaturated have been recognized [42]. Side



Fig. 1.3. Chemical structures of polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) monomers. (a). Common formula of PHA containing asymmetric carbons. All these monomeric units comprise one chiral midpoint (*) in R arrangement. $R = C_{3}$; $R = C_{2}$ H₅; mcl-PHA: $R = C_{3}$ H₇- C_{11} H₂₅, n = 100-30,000 monomeric constituents, (b). Chemical structure of scl-PHA (PHB, PHV and their copolymer PHBV), (c). Mcl-PHA (3-hydroxyhexanoate).

chain extent of the monomeric unit along with functional unit significantly affects component characteristics like; crystallinity, glasstransition temperatures and melting etc. So, find their ultimate use. The mechanical and non-breakable characteristics of PHA can also be altered through mixing and transforming their body surface. This can also be done by uniting PHA with other type of polymers, inorganic compounds and enzymes [41]. Modified PHA composition allows good mechanical, non-breakable characteristics, biocompatibility and degradation rates under particular physiological conditions. Due to these physical properties, they are considered as environment friendly bioplastics.

PHB is harder and more fragile/brittle than polypropylene. It is 100% stereo-specific along with asymmetric carbon atoms comprising D(-) configuration which makes it extremely crystalline [47]. Its melting point (177 °C) is little bit lesser than its humiliating temperature which is 185 °C. This assembles complicated the fabrication of a plastic part by inoculation. PHB structure is very analogous to that of

polypropylene, as both have same degree of crystallinity, melting point, glass-rubber transition temperature and a compact helical configuration. On the basis of these qualities they have attracted the interest of industries like ICI (Imperial Chemical Industries, UK) for biodegradable shampoo bottles made up of BIOPOTM.

PHB has a number of beneficial characteristics like; optical purity, moisture proof and insolubility of water. This characterises PHB from recently existing decomposable plastics those are water loving and wetness effective. PHB displays no excellent penetrability of oxygen [48]. PHB also possess far lesser liquid resistance and good natural barrier to UV weathering [49].

Mcl-PHA is elastomers and adhesive compounds which can be improved to formulate gums/rubbers. The characteristics of mcl-PHA are appropriate for several uses, e.g. agriculture, food, chemistry, and medical applications, because of their innate biodegradable along with biocompatible characteristics [50]. Sophisticated bio-methods and suitable choice of carbon source to promote the development of ideal

Table 1.1

Relationship of materially characteristics of several PHA with polypropylene [39].

Properties	SCL-PHA	MCL-PHA	PHBV	PHBHHx	Polypropylene
Melting point (°C)	80-180	30-80	102-180	110-130	170
Glass transition temperature (°C)	-5 to -20	-25 to -49	-8-4	-1 to -2	-15 to -45
Crystallinity (%)	30-90	20-40	30–70	20–35	50-70
Elongation to break (%)	2-8	300-555	2.8-100	400-900	400
Density (g.cm ³)	1.18-1.26	1-1.05	1.16-1.25	N/a	0.905-0.94
Molecular weight	1×10^4 - 3×10^6	$1.35-5 \times 10^{5}$	$1.7-9.8 \times 10^{5}$	$1.9-7 \times 10^{5}$	$2-7 \times 10^{5}$

N/A: Data not available.

International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 166 (2021) 297-321



Fig. 14. Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) structural formula and constitution (a) Transmission electron micrograph of Azotobacter chroococcum, (b) and (c) schemes of a PHA granule [44,45].

mcl-PHA. Biggest prospective of mcl-PHA has to exist into hydrorepellent layering of body tops. PHA copolymers comprised of mainly HB along with a segment of larger chain monomeric units (like; HV, HH along with HO) are relatively better elastic as well as tough bioplastics as compared to pure PHA.

Wenkuan and Qiang [51] studied that extension in side chain had an important effects on qualities of mcl-PHA such as flexibility and amorphous properties as compared to short chain which are more rigid. Poly (3HO-*co*-3HHx) is general kind of mcl-PHA established in *pseudomonas*. The crystallinity of this copolymer is between 20 and 40% (Table 1.1), concluding in less liquefying endothermic, that is representative for elastomeric components.

2. Producers of PHA, biosynthesis pathways and physiology

2.1. PHA accumulating microorganisms

Based on the culture circumstances, PHA forming strain are generally classified into two classes/groups. The first group accumulates PHA only in existence of an extra carbon substrate, if accessibility of vital nutrient elements is limited. This group includes *Cupriavidus necator* [52], *methylotrophs* [53] and *pseudomonas* strains. Second set does not need nutritional restrictions in favour of PHA production. The microorganisms are able to store PHA throughout normal development. It comprises *Alcaligenes latus*, *Azotobacter vinelandii* as well as recombinant *Escherichia coli* strains [33]. Generally, two kinds of PHA exist, scl and mcl-PHA and their formation depends on nature of bacterial strain and carbon source used in the culture medium. Specific bacterial specie produces only specific kind of PHA, scl-PHA and mcl-PHA. For example, almost all *Pseudomonas* are known for mcl-PHA production, and similarly *Bacillus* is well known for PHB production.

Until 1983, efforts had been made to produce PHB and to clarify the metabolic pathway in different bacterial species including *Bacillus* and *Azotobactor*. In 1983, De Smet et al. [28] observed poly (3-hydroxyoctanoate) PHO in intracellular granules of *P. oleovorans* ATCC 29347 developed in two-stage media consisting octane. Later, a number of studies were carried out on mcl-PHA. Not only *P. oleovorans* but also a huge number of further species of *Pseudomonas* (*P. putida*, *P. fluorescens as well as P. testosteroni*) accumulated mcl-PHA by n-alkanoic acids along with a diversity of other carbon sources [54].

Due to endotoxin (pyrogen) development in Gram negative strain like; *Methylobacterium organophillum, Cupriavidus necator* and *Pseudomonas oleovorans*, their use on industrial scale was effectively replaced by Gram-positive bacteria which were good bacterial sources of PHA for biomedical applications [55]. Among these microorganisms, *Bacillus* spp. [56], *Clostridium* spp., *Corynebacterium* spp. [57], *Nocardia* spp., *Rhodococcus* species [58]., *Streptomyces* species [59] and *Staphylococcus* species accumulated PHA [59]. In Gram negative bacteria, endotoxin is a lipid portion of lipopolysaccharides released through outermost cell wall and may triggers fever if enter into blood- stream of human beings and animals [55]. Endotoxin could be separated during PHA purification using various methods such as NaOH digestion and temperature controlled methods [60]. Upto 100% pure mcl-PHA have been recovered using these methods [61]. Cost of these methods recommended the utilization of Gram-positive strain for PHA formation.

Large variety of microorganisms have already been studied in support of biopolymer formation in fed-batch and continuous fermentations. Some bacterial strains were commonly studied: *Bacillus megaterium* [45,62], *Cupriavidus necator* [52,63], *Bacillus cereus* [64], Pseudomonas putida [65–67] and Pseudomonas oleovorans [68]. For example, Kim [68] studied PHA production by fed batch fermentation using Pseudomonas oleovorans using octanoic acid and ammonium nitrate as nitrogen and carbon substrates. PHA quantity of 62, 75 and 67% of DCW, and yields of 1, 0.63 as well as 0.16 g l^{-1} h⁻¹ correspondingly were gained using 10, 20 and 100C/N ratios (g of octanoic acid/g of ammonium nitrate) in the culture. Furthermore, the pulse feed strategy turned out as a reliable and relatively easy strategy for quick optimization of fed-batch processes, especially in the case of rather toxic substrates like octanoic acid [65]. Kulpreecha [62] used B. megaterium BA-019 strain for gaining maximum cell density along with PHA synthesis by batch cultivation utilizing urea and sugarcane molasses as nitrogen and carbon substrates. Consumption of sugar content and urea, cell dry weight, PHB contents, PHB concentration and optical density are presented as function of time in Fig. 1.5. Maximum obtained cell growth $(72.6 \text{ g.l}^{-1} \text{ DW})$ with PHB quantity (42% DCW.) obtained during 24H fermentation period, succeeding to enhanced PHB yield (1.27 g.l^{-1}) . h^{-1}) using 400 g/L sugar concentration and C/N mole fraction was 10 (Fig. 1.5).

When Pseudomonas putida was grown lying on either glucose, nonanoic acid, or a mixture of both under nitrogen limitation conditions, PHA produced contained mcl-PHA monomers, $C_7 + C_9$, using nonanoic acid and $C_8 + C_{10}$ from glucose [67]. When both substrates were provided together in the medium, all these monomers were produced. The yield of $C_7 + C_9$ became double i.e. 0.450 molmol⁻¹ from 0.254 molmol $^{-1}\!,$ whereas, yield of C_8 + C_{10} decreased to 0.011 molmol⁻¹ from 0.057 molmol⁻¹. This change in the PHA quantity demonstrated that substantial savings can be gained using co-substrates. Mixed bacterial cultures have been used to produce PHA instead of single media. Merged bacterial mediums are generally utilized in waste water cure. Activated mud, a famous diverse medium, is capable in the direction of accumulation of PHA like carbon as well as power storing compounds. Microorganisms can adapt rapidly to changing conditions of nutrients and substrates. In a study conducted by Salehizadeh, activated sludge stored PHA under anaerobic conditions. The produced polymer was 20% of cell dry weight while, in pure culture PHA production was greater than 88% of DCW [69]. It was also found that PHA quantity of activated mud/sludge could be improved to 62% in a microaerophilic-aerobic mud/sludge method.

2.2. PHA biosynthesis pathways in microorganisms

The biosynthetic pathway of scl-PHA is the simple as compared to other mcl-PHA monomers. The process comprising of three types of enzymes, and their coding genes (Fig. 1.6) [70,71], which allocate the production of PHB and copolymer PHBV using simple substrates. Firstly,



International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 166 (2021) 297-321

carbon substrate like glucose is entirely changed into acetyl-CoA. Then alteration of the acetyl unit of acetyl-CoA to large repeating linear polyester PHB is gained in a short metabolic pathway of three steps:

- (a) Claisen compression of two acetyl-CoA compounds into acetoacetyl-CoA from a 3-ketothiolase enzyme, programmed by phaA.
- (b) Reduction of acetoacetyl-CoA compound into (R) 3hydroxybutyryl-CoA or (R) 3-hydroxyvaleryl-CoA from NADPspecific acetoacetyl-CoA enzyme (reductase) encoded as the *phaB* gene [47].
- (c) (*R*)-3-hydroxybutyryl-CoA monomeric unit's polymerization catalyzed via PHA synthase enzyme that is programmed as *phaC* gene [45,72]. All these types of enzymes in support of PHB production be positioned into cytosol, where PHB storage occurred [3]. Production of other scl-PHA is feasible by accumulation of several carbon substrates to the culture (propionic or valeric acids), which results to synthesis of a by chance copolymer made up of 3HB and 3 HV (PHBV). In this way, reaction of propionyl-CoA in the company of acetyl-CoA is facilitated through a distinctive ketothiolase [73] (Fig. 1.6). Reduction of 3-ketovaleryl-CoA compound into (*R*)-3-hydroxyvaleryl-CoA compound also succeeding polymerization to make (PHBV) was synthesized via similar enzymes implicated during PHB production [74].

PHA polymerases are classified into four most important categories with respect to their basic structures and substrate specificities [76]. These four classes and their genes are presented in Table 1.2. First class of PHA synthase genes was obtained from a phaCAB operon in C. necator, Acinetobacter spp., A. latus and P. acidophila. Second class of PHA synthase, found in all Pseudomonas species, composed of two subunits: phaC1 and phaC2 and is associated to the synthesis of mcl-PHA. In few species comprising Allochromatium vinosum and Thiocystis violacea, the third type of PHA enzyme (synthase) comprises of two subconstituents: PhaC as well as PhaE (Table 1.2). This kind of synthase mostly catalyzes production of scl-PHA, however catalyzes polymerization of mcl-monomeric unit [47,77,78]. This type of enzyme catalyzes hydration of 2-enoyl-CoA compound in support of giving 3hydroxyacyl-CoA monomeric constituents in support of mcl-PHA development [79]. In some species of *Bacillus* such as *Bacillus megaterium*, fourth type of PHA enzyme (synthase) is also contained two subunits: PhaC as well as PhaR (Table 1.2). Here these sub-units are linked with the formation of scl-PHA. Sources selectivity of PHA enzyme (synthase) has been a significant field on behalf of researchers and the monomeric constitution of PHA produced was found reliant on it [45].

In bacteria which produce mcl-PHA, such as *P. putida*, β -oxidation as well as fatty acid biogenesis routes are used in the direction of supply of sources in support of polymer production [31]. Mostly, mcl-PHA precursors are gained via β -oxidation route, a pathway firstly recommended in beginning of 1970s for microorganisms exist in activated sludge [80]. This route is used to change fatty acid into (*R*)-3-hydroxyacyl- CoAs, whereas, fatty acid fresh synthesis route is utilized to alter carbohydrate intermediates into (*R*)-3-hydroxyacyl-CoAs [81].These metabolites (*R*)-3-hydroxyacyl-CoA compounds are utilized same as the substrate from PHA enzyme (synthases), that catalyzed devoted phase of mcl-PHA biosynthesis and ultimately terminated in PHA biopolymer. The precursors of β -oxidation routes containing enoyl-CoA compound, 3-ketoacyl-CoA compound as well as (*S*)-3-hydroxyacyl-CoA compound, work like originators of mcl-(*R*)-3-hydroxyacyl-CoA compound, that is utilized openly during mcl-PHA production.

Most *pseudomonads* (for example *P.oleovorans*), relating towards rRNA homology class I, generate mcl-PHA by utilizing β -oxidation cycle of PHA biosynthetic pathway (Fig. 1.7). These bacteria accumulate mcl-PHA when cells are cultivated on associated carbon substrates, like; alkanes, alkanols and alkanoic acids. In addition, *Pseudomonads* utilize





Fig. 1.6. PHB and PHBV biosynthetic routes in Cupriavidus necator [75].

fatty acid synthesis route for biosynthesis of mcl-PHA by Acetyl-CoA (Fig. 1.7). This enables the use of distinct carbon sources, such as carbohydrates [82]. *P. citronellolis, P. oleovorans, P. putida as well as P. mendocina* are kinds of *pseudomonads* so as to possess this route. *Pseudomonas* sp. 61–3 is an exception as it is capable to store PHB from a route same to *C. necator* presented in Fig. 1.7, although a heteropolymer comprising a combination of monomeric units [83].

β-oxidation cycle in different strains of *Pseudomonas putida* that provides hydroxyalkanoate monomeric units for mcl-PHA bio-formation is given. β-oxidation route includes the contribution of acyl-CoA synthetase enzyme (FadD) that activates stimulation of *n*-phenylalkanoic along with n-alkanoic acid compound (n > 4) in the direction of acyl-CoA types. After that, an acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (FadF), that needs contribution of a double bond into β-configuration. Conclusively, a compound (FadBa), enoyl-CoA-hydratase, activates elimination of two carbon constituents of acyl-chain managed [86].

Acetyl-CoA stimulated originators of PHA are either produced in the path of anabolism through de novo fatty acid production or in pathway of breakdown by fatty acid β -oxidation which are provided towards unit cells.

Production of SCL and MCL monomers from fatty acid biosynthesis via the overproduction of genetically engineered FabH proteins and PHA synthase. 1. Fatty acid biosynthesis pathway (1). FabH catalyzes the condensation of malonyl-ACP and acetyl-CoA to form acetoacetyl-ACP (2). FabH mediates the transacylase reaction. 5. PhaC catalyzes the PHA polymerization reaction (3,4) given in Fig. 1.8. The β -oxidation pathway of *E. coli* (1). PhaJ catalyzes the conversion of enoyl-CoA to (*R*)-3-hydroxyacyl-CoA (2). FabG catalyzes the reduction of 3-ketoacyl-CoA to (*R*)-3-hydroxyacyl-CoA (3). PhaC catalyzes the PHA polymerization reaction (4) given in Fig. 1.9 [87].

Enzymes which catalyze both mcl-PHA formation pathways (β -oxidation as well as fresh fatty acid production) in microorganisms are presented in Fig. 1.7. The chief enzymes involve in PHA bio-formation are: PhaA that encodes 3-ketothiolase enzyme, PhaB that encodes (*R*)-3-ketoacyl-CoA reductase enzyme (in support of PHB biogenesis, this specific enzyme is acetoacetyl-CoA reductase), and PhaC that is PHA synthase, PhaG that encodes (*R*)-3-hydroxyacyl-CoA transacylase enzyme, and PhaJ that is for enoyl-CoA hydratase enzyme [88]. Whereas, PhaC is particular on behalf of enantiomeric units into (*R*)-position.

2.3. Regulation of gene expression

Management of PHA metabolism is a difficult process, (i) at enzymatic stage, and (ii) at transcriptional stage [89]. In bacteria, such as *R. eutropha*, scl-PHA production is motivated by good intra cellular quantities of acetyl-CoA and free CoA [75]. NADPH and high ratios of

Table 1.2		
Four categories of PHA synthases	[45]	I

Class	PHA synthase genes	Subunits	Species	Substrates
1	PhaC	~60-73KDa	Cupriavidus necator	3HA _{SCL} -CoA(C ₃ -C ₅), 4HA _{SCL} -CoA, 5HA _{SCL} -CoA
2	PhaC1, PhaC2	~60-65KDa	Pseudomonas aeroginosa	$3HA_{MCL}-CoA(\sim \geq C_5)$
3	PhaC, PhaE	~40KDa, ~40KDa	Allochromatium vinosum	3HA- _{SCL} -CoA, 3HA _{MCL} -CoA(~C ₆ -C ₈), 4HA-CoA, 5HA-CoA
4	PhaR, PhaC	~40KDa, ~22KDa	Bacillus megaterium	3HA _{SCL} -CoA



Fig. 1.7. Metabolic routes of PHA biosynthesis [84,85].

NADPH/NADP are also important in management of polymer production. It facilitated metabolic change of acetyl-CoA compound Figure PHB formation route. In strain like; *P. oleovorans* as well as *P. fragii* that generate mcl-PHA, one of most general routes to provide hydroxyalkanoate monomeric unit is metabolism of fatty acids (β -oxidation and production routes) as shown in Fig. 1.7. Therefore, same regulatory factors have an effect on the action of the enzymes of these metabolic routes and the management of PHA bio production. It was assumed that PHA synthases fight with β -oxidation compound for sources. As PHA accumulation by alginate over generating mutant of *P. oleovorans*, cultured on gluconate, decreased in contrast to that of wild type bacteria [90]. Whereas, *phaC1* transcription was found equal

(A)



Fig. 1.8. Metabolic pathways for monomers derived from carbon sources. (A) Production of SCL and MCL monomers from fatty acid biosynthesis via the overproduction of genetically engineered FabH proteins and PHA synthase [87].



Fig. 1.9. (B) The production of SCL and MCL monomers from the β-oxidation pathway in *E. coli* [87].

in both these strains, they indicated a competition between alginate PHA biosynthesis and PHA biosynthesis of wild type bacteria. Sandoval et al., observed to over synthesize of PhaC1 synthase within *P. putida* affected number and mass of grains. Wild-type phenotype was reestablished through the over expression of both *PhaC1* and *PhaF*. To differentiate transcriptional regulation in microbial metabolic routes, there are two ways. First, particular regulatory mechanism reaction drive the expression of related genes, in the presence of a source, a precursor metabolite or also a route manufactured goods.

Superimposed authoritarian systems manage the appearance of route gene group to common biological position of unit. This second process is determined from universal controllers [91]. Gene phaD of pha group relates with transcriptional regulators. In P. putida phaD acts a significant function during mcl-PHA bio-formation. Mutation of that gene affected mcl-PHA production such that it was reduced to less than 20% as related in the direction of production with wild type. Since PhaD is unrelated along with PHA particles, result has also been recognized with a changed appearance of phasins. Recently, PhaD was found to drive appearance of Phal as well as PhaF present in proteins into reaction with substrates in support of development. Because of this phaD reliant appearance of phasins, PhaI and PhaF functions as a pleiotropic transcriptional regulator; it determines the accessibility of nucleosome DNA to the transcription machinery in P. putida, phenotype of phaD mutant can be explained [92]. The elimination of phaD decreases the production of PHA, whereas, a phaD mutant with a plasmid-over expressing *phaF* did not show this effect. Therefore, in this strain, PhaD could be participated in management of phaF appearance as a transcriptional stimulator. Strategies for peptide polymer functionalization based on the use of natural intrinsic P. putida PHA granules as scaffold, to immobilize fusion proteins in vivo via the granule binding module of PhaF phasin.

No transcript was found to be larger than 3 kb (by mRNA analysis). Therefore, it was concluded the *phaC1*, *phaZ*, *phaC2*, and *phaD* cannot make component of similar part and mRNA dealing occurrence is participated. Investigation of phaC1 as well as phaZ gene exposed the presence of hybridization bands for phaC1 and phaC1Z transcription units. In P. *oleovorans. phaC1* and *phaZ* were reported to be co transcribed (106). Appearance of *phaF* as well as *phaIF* gene is controlled contrarily within P. putida as well as in P. oleovorans which suggested the possible presence of two promoters [75]. In P. putida GPo1, phaF gene disruption resulted in increased expression of phaC1. Therefore, it was assumed phaF acted the same as a depressing controller of phaC1 expression into same bacteria. The phaF transcript was detected into wild-type bacteria when glucose and citrate was utilized as growth substrates. In the presence of these substrates, PhaF could bind to DNA instead of granules and turned off appearance of *phaC1* (*phaC1Z*) as well as *phaIF* (*phaD*) impression components. Expression of phaIF transcript was dependant on the fatty acids like; octanoic acid in medium. PhaD regulator also stimulated expression of phaIF transcript [93]. This controlling system indicates a stable existence of *PhaF* within units. As reported by Sandoval [94], here is no proof of straight binding of PhaF towards DNA organizer places of phaC1 and phaIF. In the existence of octanoic acid, also PhaF is linked to pellets as well as transcription degrees of phaC1, phal, along with phaF enhance considerably proceeding to synthesis of innovative pellets. Dissimilar in other strain, pha in P. putida looks to be incorporated from six various parts (phaC1, phaZ, phaC2, phaD, phaI, and phaF).

2.4. Aerobic and anaerobic biodegradation

Biodegradation of polymers can take place under aerobic or anaerobic circumstances, leading to various products. Aerobic degradation (in the existence of oxygen) mostly utilizes oxygen as an ultimate electron acceptor, while microorganisms that execute anaerobic degradation (in the absence of oxygen) use CO₂, nitrates, sulphates etc. as an alternating electron acceptor to produce energy for the cell functions [95,96]. Most biodegradable polymers illustrate confirmation of degradation in both aerobic and anaerobic conditions [97]. For enzymatically degraded polymers, it is the temperature that generally affects whether polymer scission happens. For example, PLA requires a temperature equal to or greater than its Tg (~55 °C) to biodegrade efficiently [98]. The vital chemical equation for aerobic biodegradation is the change of organic carbon into CO_2 by microorganisms, in the existence of oxygen (Eq. (1)). The carbon atom is usually part of a complex structure, and in some cases oxygen can be derived from the polymer itself, like from polyesters. During cellular respiration of a carbon source (i.e. glucose), the liberated oxygen reacts with free hydrogen ions to produce water (Eq. (2)) [99].

$$\mathsf{C} + \mathsf{O}_2 \to \mathsf{CO}_2 \tag{1}$$

$$H^+ + O_2 \rightarrow 2H_2O \tag{2}$$

Anaerobic biodegradation on an industrial scale following standards is a considerably less studied area as compared to aerobic biodegradation, due to the environment control required for the study, and it does not comprise the majority of natural environments where plastic waste could biodegrade (soil and marine) The stoichiometric mass balance of anaerobic biodegradation of plastics and natural fillers is defined by Eqs. (1), (3) and (4).

$$C + 2H_2 \rightarrow CH_4$$
 (3)

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 3CO_2 + 3CH_4 \tag{4}$$

Under anaerobic conditions, biodegradation results in methane production and some CO2 is produced depending on the residual oxygen in the environment or the type of degraded stuff. Two types of anaerobic environments exist on a large scale due to commercial actions, biogas facilities and landfills. Biogas facilities deal with anaerobic digestion of organic and plastic materials, capturing the released methane for energy conversion. However, landfills are of particular concern, because any uncontrolled biodegradation of organic and plastic materials can result in methane generation into the environment. In 2007, it was estimated that only 10% of the potential methane generated is captured in the United States, which has only increased to approximately 20% by 2017. Methane is a 25 times more potent greenhouse gas compared to CO2 over a 100-year period. Furthermore, in the waste sector, the largest contributors of methane in the atmosphere are the landfills and solid waste treatment facilities which do not collect biogas, indicating uncontrolled management of this greenhouse gas [100].

2.5. Biodegradation of PHA

PHA degradation is achieved in strain from at least two various routes, intracellular and extracellular processes [12]. In the first one, the accumulated PHA is hydrolyzed to meet the needs of carbon source of microorganism. Here degradation of thermo-polymer is taken through depolymerases enzyme (phaZ) attached to PHA particle. During extracellular breakdown, exogenous PHA also used as a carbon as well as energy substrate. Substrate of this polymer from PHA-storing microbes that experience breakdown. These particles are multiply in ecosystems also hydrolyzed using released enzymes within waterloving monomers. Capability to decompose scl-PHA is extensive along with strain. Thus, various scl-PHA depolymerases enzymes have also been considered more than last decade as well as greater than 20 genes have also been detected [12]. Extracellular mcl-PHA degrading microbes are not normally present in surrounding. Pseudomonas fluorescens enzyme is mcl-PHA depolymerase (extracellular) [66]. This depolymerase enzyme appears to be mcl-PHA-particular as it hydrolyzes PHO and PHD however it was not capable to decompose PHB and PHV.

In the extracellular process of biodegradation, microbes grown on body of polymer also release enzymes which decompose PHBV into HB as well as HV constituents. Then these components are utilized from these microorganisms as a substrate in support of development. Degree of polymer biodecomposition relies on diversity of causes, comprising body area, bacterial movement of disposal ecosystem, temperature, moisture, pH as well as stress of many other nutritional constituents. Moreover, selectivity and performance of extracellular depolymerases and characteristics of polymer (stereo regularity, crystallinity, molecular mass of the molecules) as well as salinity and acidity of the medium are also important. PHBV is hydrophobic and is unaffected by water, does not breakable under normal environmental circumstances, and is constant for an indefinite period in air [8,101]. The final stuff of PHA deprivation in aerobic atmospheres is CO₂ as well as H₂O, although ethane is synthesized into anaerobic circumstances.

In comparison with extrinsic PHA depolymerisation, intrinsic decomposition of formerly stored PHA is implicated little bit. Though, throughout the previous duration, examination of genomes of C. necator and other PHB creator bacteria such as cloning and description of various PHB depolymerases as well as hydrolases enzymes, exposed with the intention of PHB hydrolysis is a extremely complicated procedure. According to intracellular mcl-PHA biodecomposition, a single model defined thus distant is of PHA recruitment in Pseudomonas. Firstly mcl-PHA depolymerase enzyme was observed to be programmed from *phaZ*, positioned involving two mcl-PHA enzyme (synthases) genes (phaC1 as well as phaC2) in P. putida. It is an intracellular depolymerase positioned in PHA pellets which hydrolyzes particularly mcl-PHA comprising aliphatic and aromatic monomeric units [66]. In another report, PhaZ2 was observed to link with PHB insertion body also because of soluble enzyme in R. eutropha, while, PhaZ1 linked absolutely to the insertion bodies. PhaZ2 was a new PHB depolymerase, which contributes in organization of PHB in C. necator with PhaZ1 [102].

3. Substrates

PHA production from renewable resource is attractive as an alternative of using petroleum-derived polymers. Due to biodegradability of PHA, its characteristics are harmless to the environment. High cost (5–10 times higher than conventional polymer) of bacterial fermentation is the major hurdle for commercial synthesis of PHA. Therefore, inexpensive carbon substrates (e.g. industrial unwanted products and byproducts) have to be used in direction to minimize this problem [59].

Numerous alkanes, alkanoic acids, fructose, glucose and glycerol were utilized the same as substrates for the synthesis of mcl-PHA [103].Glycerol was utilized as substrate in favour of synthesis of economically favourable biopolymer utilizing *Pseudomonas oleovorans* and *Pseudomonas corrugata* [104]. PHB and mcl-PHA (containing primarily of 44 mol% 3HD (C10) and 31 mol% 3HDde (C12:1)) were produced respectively.

After 72 h of batch culture, cellular productivity was 40% in favour of *P. oleovorans* within 5% (v/v) glycerol as well as was 20% in favour of P. corrugata within 2% (v/v) glycerol. Accumulative glycerol medium quantity from 1 to 5% (v/v) produced a 61 and 72% decrease in molar mass of PHB along with mcl-PHA biopolymers, correspondingly. Development of both bacterial strains on glycerol in a mix culture produced natural fusions of PHB and mcl-PHA. Through changing the period of cultivations, the obtained PHB/mcl-PHA fractions ranges from 34:66 to 96:4. Similarly, Atlic et al [63] used glucose as substrate for growing Cupriavidus necator DSM 545 in a multistage (5 stages) bioreactor. For PHB produced from this strain, volumetric and specific productivities $(1.85 \text{gL}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1} \text{ and } 0.100 \text{ gg}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1} \text{ correspondingly})$, polymer yield (77% w/w) as well as biopolymer characteristics (Mw = 665 kg/mol, PDI = 2.6) were obtained. Structurally distinct carbon substrates, like; gluconate have been utilized for PHA production via Pseudomonas, however, this is commonly lesser proficient than constitutionally associated carbon sources [89]. Some strains may store as much as 40% PHA



Fig. 1.10. PHA biopolymer quantity of P. putida bacteria utilizing alkanes and alkanoate of different extent [67].

utilizing these types of carbon substrates, yields are generally much lesser than pure carboxylic acids.

It is already discussed that for mcl-PHA synthesis substrates are mainly provided by fatty acid β -oxidation route through structurally associated carbon substrates. Carbon substrates like; octane, nonanoate, and octanoate are deliberated to be most proficient sources for mcl-PHA production [67]. In Fig. 1.10, PHA quantity (%) was plotted versus number of carbon atoms of PHA monomers obtained by growing *Pseudomonas* bacteria utilizing alkanoate and alkane as substrates. Generally alkanoate produce larger quantities of PHA (more than 40%) as compared to simple alkanes (approximately 20%).

Durner et al [105] used P. *putida* GPo1 for mcl-PHA production by growing in octanoate as well as nonanoate with nitrogen restriction in a study ($\mu = 0.2 \text{ h}^{-1}$). Biopolymer yield was 42 as well as 31%, correspondingly. Throughout PHA storing stage of batch fermentation by *P. putida*, particular biopolymer production speed utilizing nonanoate was significantly greater than by octanoate ($0.082gL^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1}$ vs 0.036 g. g^{-1} .h⁻¹) recommending that nonanoate is a proficient substrate in favour of biopolymer production. Oleic acid, a general carboxylic acid present within vegetable oils, has also been utilized of proficient synthesis of mcl-PHA (biomass concentration of $30gL^{-1}$ containing 23% PHA) from *P. putida* KT2442.

Octanoic acid was utilized the same as substrate during pH-stat methods for growing *Pseudomonas oleovorans* with nitrogen restriction to gain 47gL⁻¹ biomass comprising 55% biopolymer [106]. Similarly, in another study, from *Pseudomonas oleovorans*, 63gL⁻¹ biomass containing 62% PHA was obtained using octanoic acid as carbon source [68]. *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440 was cultivated using nonanoic acid in nitrogen restraint environment in two phase fed batch reactor [67]. It accumulated 27% of mcl-PHA. Then this bacterium was developed in substrate limited culture (1.31gL⁻¹ of nonanoic acid instead of 3gL⁻¹) to observe the effect of the substrate instead of nitrogen limitations. Biomass concentrations and PHA contents produced are represented in outline Fig. 1.11 as a utility of period of culture (h).

4. Fermentation process development for PHA production

Fermentation is complete in direction to allow microorganism to use accessible carbon in media as a carbon and energy substrate and to store intracellular PHA polymer within their body, during the fermentation development microbes used different kinds of carbon as well as nitrogen sources for their development and then stored the PHA molecules into their cytoplasm in shape of pellets. To avoid utilization of polymers used for microbial development, unbalance nutrients are provided. To



Fig. 1.11. Influence of development speed on biopolymer production in *P. putida* under N-restricted growing in nonanoic acid. The nonanoic acid feeding rate (F_{NA}) was enhanced ranges from 0.47 g L⁻¹h⁻¹to 1.01gL⁻¹h⁻¹at 27 h throughout the N-restricted stage, as represented with dash-dot line [67].

S. Shahid, S. Razzaq, R. Farooq et al.

accomplish high polymer efficiency, the plan of cultivation is to enhance the weight of cells by supplying at first sufficient nutrient sources in the media and then limiting the development nutrients excluding carbon substrate. These approaches have also been attained through fedbatch cultivation.

A fed-batch is a biotechnological batch procedure that is controlled by nourishing a development restrictive nutrient source to a media to gain better cell densities in bioreactor. Generally fed solution is extremely intense to avoid dilution in bioreactor. Substrate limitation allows metabolic regulator, avoids catabolite repression, osmotic effects and run-off metabolism of the side products [107]. Batch and fedbatch cultivations are commonly utilized in industrial cultivation methods. The latter is highly effective to achieve high yield and cell concentration, as culture constitutions can also be organised through source inhibition. So, maximum early intentness of sources can also be diverted. Restrictions of fed-batch are extended among two batches, that consequences during maximum procedure charges [108]. Fedbatch medium is appropriate for strain which needs restriction of vital nutrients like; oxygen, nitrogen as well as existence of extra substrate in favour of proficient formation of biopolymer [61]. Various strategies can also be utilized to regulate the development in a fed-batch method including: PO₂, carbon substrate, pH (acidification is connected to high glucose), ammonia (nitrogen source) and temperature. Fed-batch fermentation can be further divided in two types depending upon volume of medium used.

A) Fixed volume fed-batch

In such kind of fed-batch, source in minimum amount is nourished without diluting media/culture. Feeding of developmental restrictive sources can preserve culture volume constant the same as a precise rigorous liquid and gas (oxygen). A specific kind of comprehensive fedbatch, repeated fed-batch media, implies a periodic removal of a portion of cultural media and use of residual cultural media as beginning point for further fed-batch method [109].

B) Variable volume fed-batch

In variable quantity fed-batch quantity of medium fluctuates with cultivation time because of carbon sources supply. Means this quantity varies is reliant on needs, restrictions as well as aims of microbial culture.

C) Continuous Cultivation

There are mutually input as well as output movements in continuous method, however, reaction quantity is set aside stable. While high substrate level hinders the development and product development or when undesired constituents are formed in analogous with a preferred product, the fed-batch operation is revealed to be superior to both batch cultivation and continuous procedures [110].

5. Extraction of polyhydroxyalkanoates

There are different kinds of method utilized for recovery of biopolymers described in previous studies with the analysis of their benefits and disadvantages. Majorly used techniques for the extraction are discussed below.

5.1. Solvent extraction

Solvent extraction technique is majorly utilized for improving of PHAs. Firstly, pretreated product using some solvent to rupture the granules and then, chloroform, acetone, 1, 2-dichloroethane and ethylene carbonate are used for the solubilization of PHAs. After that chilled ethanol or methonol is used for the precipitation as a non-solvent. The advantages of this method are that it does not decompose polymer as

well as remove endotoxins of dry cell mass [111]. 1,2-propylene carbonate preferably used due to its less toxic property as compared to others.

The main purpose of this study is using various types of solvents like; n-hexane, 1,2-propylene, acetone, chloroform, ethylene acetate and methylene chloride. Mostly efficient solvent, methylene chloride showed the rocovery of polymer 86%(w/w) at room temperature [60]. Ethyl acetate and acetone showed the impurities smaller than 10% and purity of polymer increased nearly 100% when chilled mehaol is used for the precipitation.

5.2. Floatation method

This is generally modified form of solvent extraction technique in which less number of chemicals are used as related to solvent extraction. This extraction is followed via the self-floatation of pellet remains. In this method pellets are merged in chloroform at 30 °C for 72 h. Then stay it for over-night at room temperature for self-floatation of pellet remains. This method reported purity and efficiency of the PHAs upto 98% and 85%(w/w) respectively [112]. The other benefits of this method are easy handling, less costly and reduction of wastage of extracted polymer.

5.3. Digestion method

In this type of extraction digestion mechanism is involved. Number of chemicals is used for this method instead of chloroform or acetone in solvent extraction. There are two ways of digestion method one is chemical and second is enzymatic digestion. In chemical digestion sodium hypochlorite used for the recovery of PHAs in existence of other chemicals like; sodium dodecyl sulfate, betaine and palmitoyl carnitine as a surfactants [113]. If only sodium hypochlorite is used for the extraction, it may lead the 50% degradation of polymer. Both the surfactant and sodium hypochlorite used together for the better recovery and efficiency of polymer, separately they gave poor performance [114]. Enzymatic digestion consists of three steps, first is heating treatment, second is enzymatic hydrolysis and third one is surfactant washing, gave the high percentage of recovery product [111].

5.4. Supercritical fluid extraction

Supercritical fluid is most preferable method utilized now these days for the recovery because of its low toxic and cost. Carbon dioxide, ammonia and methane are used as supercritical fluids. The advantage of this method is to achieve the dominant recovery of the polymer due to their high speed, low viscosity, and no surface tension. Some studies reported the purity of polymer up to 89% using supercritical fluids for *Cupriavidus necator* [115]. This method is a preferable extraction method used to form the impurities free PHA for the biomedical uses. Supercritical fluid provides the purity of polymer up to 100% as compared to the conventional extraction methods [116]. The limitation of this method is to maintain the high pressure up to 350 bar which requires the specific technology.

5.5. Sonication method

Latest and advanced method of extraction is the use of ultra-sonic waves. Mostly preferable and beneficial method is sonication method in which 1 g of cell will be mixed with 100 ml of hot chloroform in a beaker and will be sonicated in an ultrasound bath of 40 kHz frequency of 200 W at 20 °C for 2 h. After that the high power sonication will be subjected for 30 min. Then released granules will also be entirely liquefied with chloroform. Biopolymer will also be precipitated by using 1 L icecold ethanol (99.8%) and it will be dried out in vacuum oven at 40 °C [117]. Summary of extraction of polyhydroxyalkanoates as discussed in Table 1.3.

Table 1.3

Extraction of polyhydroxyalkanoates.

Sr. no recovery methods	Advantages	Recovery agents	Analysis
1. Solvent extraction	High clarity, exclusion of endotoxin, minimum polymer humiliation	Chloroform, methanol, hexane [111]	Create contamination due to the high quantity of chemicals
2. Floatation method	Less use of chemicals, minimum polymer degradation	Chloroform [112]	Highly preferable due to less chemicals, easy to handle and less costly
3. Chemical digestion	High purity, no polymer degradation useful for high volume	NaClO, chloroform/ethanol [121]	Time spending, mixture of chemicals necessary, 50% degradation of polymer occurred if only one chemical is used
4. Enzymatic digestion	High quality polymer recovery, high clarity, no employ of chemicals	SDS, EDTA, Alcalase, Lysosyme [121]	Highly costly, highly complex
5. Supercritical fluid	Low cost, less toxic, High purity	CO ₂ [113]	Less costly, but limitation is to maintain the 350 bar pressure during extraction
6. Ultra sonication method	Highly efficient 99.8%	Chloroform, ultrasound frequency 40KHz, power 200 W [117]	Highly effective, high quantity of chloroform is used like 100 ml of solvent required for 1 g of dry cell mass
7. Biological digestion	Purity 94%	<i>Tenebrio molitor,</i> water, SDS, diluted HCI [119]	Highly effective but takes long time for recovery

5.6. Biological digestion of non-PHA biomass by animals

More recently, it was successfully confirmed that the non-PHA fraction of biomass could selectively be digested by some animals, most prominently by the meal worm *Tenebrio molitor*. The principles and potential of this process were comprehensively summarized by Chee and colleagues [118].The experiments underlying this review involved the feeding of meal worms with PHA-rich *C. necator* biomass, whereby the animals digested the non-PHA biomass material. The remaining white fecal pellets were simply washed with alkaline water. Purity of PHA obtained by this novel process reached 94%, which is sufficient for various applications of PHA. This biological method does not cause reduction of molecular mass, simple post-treatment of the granules using water, SDS, slightly elevated temperature and strongly diluted HCI results in an almost 100% pure product [119]. This method takes long time for recovery [120].

6. Characterization and quantification of PHA

6.1. Observations of PHA granules

PHA grains can be found intracellular as light-deflecting pellets via phase-contrast microscopy. They can also be observed as electron-free accumulation via TEM of slight segments. Staining methods are currently used to visualize intracellular PHA granules with light or fluorescent microscopy. Sudan Black B was initial dye utilized by microbiologists for the detection of the existence of PHB grains in microbial cells [122]. Ostle and Holt (1982) [123] demonstrated that Nile Blue A, a hydrophilic primary oxazine dye that shows an intense orange fluorescence at wavelength of 460 nm has a higher resemblance as well as greater selectivity than Sudan Black used for PHB. Fig. 1.12 shows PHB accumulation by *Bacillus megaterium* MC1 grown in nutrient culture with 1 g.L⁻¹ glucose for 16 h. Inhabitant PHA inclusions can also be marked by Sudan black B and Nile Blue A while Nile Red be able to utilize in the direction of PHA developing in microbial colonies [27].

6.2. Microbial and PHA analysis by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR)

In infrared spectroscopy, infrared rays are preceded from a sample. Few of these IR are immersed through the sample, whereas, few are transmitted. The concluding band represents molecular incorporation as well as transmission, forming a molecular diagnostic feature of trial. FT-IR constitutes radically several approaches for the detection of microbes since 1980s. It measures the total constitutions of bacterial cells in a non-toxic way, with bands from all cellular components, e.g. membrane and cell wall components, proteins, and nucleic acids. IR spectra of intact bacteria permit bacterial cells to be illustrated at several taxonomic stages, even to the strain level [124,125].

Specific cells composition like; capsules or storing compounds can be detected and identified by FTIR [126]. Various processes have been utilized to detect PHA yield in strain, however they need highly and difficult sample formation, such as extraction, purification, and methanolysis [127]. In contrast to those, FT-IR spectroscopy is fast, easy to implement and cost-effective. This method has a high power for identification of PHA in laboratories and industries, as it permit the determination of minimum quantities of biomass, and needs no reagents [127]. PHB is noticeable by FT-IR spectra in intact strain, grains, capsules or endospores [128]. Mcl-PHA can also be quickly identified via FT-IR spectroscopy within joint units of Pseudomonas [129,130]. IR spectra of pure PHA monomers and of bacterial cells of Azotobacter and Pseudomonas, having PHA and not having PHA, are shown in Fig. 1.13. FT-IR band of uncontaminated PHA comprising scl-HA monomeric units like; hydroxybutyrate (HB), mcl-HA monomeric units involving HO along with HD, in cooperation of HB with mcl-HA monomeric units displayed strong characteristics bands at 1728 $\rm cm^{-1}$, 1740 cm^{-1} and 1732 cm^{-1} (carbonyl ester band), correspondingly. Other associated bands close to 1280 cm^{-1} and 1165 cm^{-1} (polysaccharides region) for PHB as well as mcl-PHA respectively were helpful in favour of identifying kinds of PHA. Moreover, the strength of band close to 2925 cm^{-1} (region of fatty acids) delivered additional informational materials for PHA characterization [130].



Fig. 1.12. PHA pellets stained using Nile blue-A [27].



Fig. 1.13. Fourier-transform infrared spectrum of PHA extracted by several cells. [125] a. The PHB using *Azotobacter vinelandii*; b. Mcl-PHA using *Pseudomonas mendocina*; c. PHA comprising HB along with mcl-HA monomeric units using *Pseudomonas pseudo alkali genes*. FT-IR band of (a) PHB forming pellets of bacteria *A. vinelandii*; (b) cells of *P. mendocina* do not comprising PHA; (c) mcl PHA forming pellets of *P. mendocina*; (d) pellets of *P. pseudo alkali genes* generating PHA comprising HB as well as HA monomeric units.

FT-IR is a qualitative method in the direction of determining the type of PHA in intact bacteria and this technique has also been used in literature to determine polymer content (semi quantitative analysis). For example, Randriamahefa [129] used several Pseudomonas strains to produce mcl-PHA from sodium octanoate (substrate). Utilizing absorbance of ester band of PHA (1728 cm⁻¹ for PHB and 1743 cm⁻¹ for mcl-PHA), a rapid distinguish between PHB and mcl-PHA (PHO) was made. Polymer content in intact bacteria was also determined using intensity of this ester band. Among all bacterial strains polymer contents varied from 0 to 53%. The calibration curve was found to be valid from 3% of polymer content, whereas very small polymer yield (<3%) was complicated to detect. FT-IR spectroscopic process needs little training of sample test rather than gas chromatographic analysis and was found to be very beneficial in favour of showing a huge diversity of Pseudomonas [129].For studying spectra of strains that produce PHA, five spectral windows were normally used making their particular information content and their judgement power: (1) window from 3100 and 2800 cm⁻¹ (fatty acid area I) is subjected from -CH3, >CH, and = CH stretching ambience of functional units generally found in lipids constituents of different covering amphiphiles; (2) window from 1800 and 1600 cm⁻¹ (amide region) is subjected through the ketones/esters, amide I as well as amide I1 spectra of proteins as well as peptides; (3) window from 1500 and 1200 cm^{-I} (diverse area) is a supernatural area consisting instruction through fatty acids, proteins along with phosphate-holding components; (4) window from 1200 and 900 cm⁻¹ (polysaccharide area) is subjected through fingerprint-like inclusion spectrums of carbohydrates found inside cell wall; (5) window between 900 and 700 cm⁻¹ (true fingerprint) shows few extraordinarily particular supernatural patterns, those are until now unassigned to cellular constituents or headed for functional units [125].

Mustafa Kansiz [131] used FT-IR spectroscopy as a tool for determining crystallinity in PHA. Similarly, with the aid of FTIR, absorbance changes of crystalline as well as formless spectra shown that unfreezing of PHB happened on a slight temperature value. Unfreezing of PHBHHx polymer happened on a extensive temperature value, also it was revealed that copolymer had a greatly broader allocation of lamellar wideness [132]. FT-IR technique was able of distinguishing equally induced mediums of *P. putida*, with 3,5-xylenol and m-cresol as single carbon substrate [133].

6.3. PHA analysis by gas chromatography (GC)

The requirement for rapid analytical techniques for identification of PHA into biomass straightly required to improve the chromatographic methods like; high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) as well as gas chromatography (GC). HPLC dealings just PHB as well as it is constructed on transformation of PHB in the direction of crotonic acid monitored through UV revealing at 210 nm. This technique states 84% healing of PHB [134].

GC analysis needs a quantitative depolymerisation of polymer, generally joined along with a derivatization. GC used for the purity, identifying and analysing the compounds during the process. The first derivatization method for GC was developed for PHB [126] on foundation of methanolysis of pellets in existence of sulphuric acid along with chloroform for PHA extraction and hydrolytic esterification of the polymer. Afterward, Riis and Mai, developed an improved method, built on hydrolysis and transesterification of PHB along with hydrochloric acid and propanol this method was sensitive, as20ug amount of PHB could be determined [135]. While alkaline hydrolysis resulted in a combination of 3-hydroxyalkanoic acid methyl esters along with 2-alkenoic acid methyl esters [80], acidic trans-esterification concluded in only one methyl ester per component, which made it more favourable. In accumulation, it was significantly quicker as extraction and transesterification continued in one step. But, sulphuric acid is of restricted usage the same as common catalyst in support of trans-esterification reactions, appropriate for more breakdown of 3-hydroxy esters [43,135], e.g. by acid catalyzed removal. Thus type and concentration of acid have considerable effect on the kinetics of depolymerisation [136,137]. One of complications in inquiry of smaller series esters of bacterial fatty acids as well as PHA monomeric units is that they are comparatively polar [138]. Furrer [74] developed a better technique for quantification of mcl-PHA via GC-FID. Boron trifluoride within methanol was used to methanolyse special mcl-PHA (efficiency >94%). This technique is appropriate in support of inquiry of both purified and intracellular mcl-PHA.GC coupled with mass spectrometer (GC-MS) is currently used to characterize PHA monomer units in microbial cells.

During analyses on GC-FID monomeric constitution of PHA formed was originated equal to 7.2 mol% 3-hydroxyhexanoic acid, 50 mol% 3hydroxyoctanoic acid, 10 mol% 3-hydroxydodecanoic acid, 24 mol% 3hydroxydecanoic acid, 8.5 mol% of 3-hydroxytetradecenoic acid and 0.3 mol% 3-hydroxytetradecanoic acid [139]. While in another study, GC-MS investigation showed existence of PHBHHx copolymer in C. necator using soybean oil. Results of GC-FID analysis revealed the presence of 5 mol% 3HHx in the copolyester after 96 h fermentation. The mole ratio of 3HHx in copolyester reduced from 10 to 5 mol% with time interval. Therefore, it was accomplished that 3HHx ratio in polymer was reliant on fermentation period as well as fermentation approach. Similarly, Arcos-Hernandez used GC-FID to quantify PHA production in 22 bacterial strains. Quantification of these strains showed a range of overall PHA yield from 0.03 to 0.58 w/w) in these samples, also fluctuating constitutions 3 HV quantity of 0-63% in mol basis [140]. Throughout batch cultivation of bacteria RA26, 250 mg.l⁻¹ of PHA was produced. Granules were filled with 80-90% of cellular size/ volume. The monomer constitution of PHA formed (using glucoseenriched medium) was determined by GC-MS and GC-FID. GC analysis found 0.3 mol% 3HB, 1.2 mol% 3HHx, 24.1 mol% 3HO, 64.5 mol% 3HD, 5.9 mol% 3HDDE as well as 3.9 mol% 3HDD in samples [141]. Findlay and White [142] detected 11 short-chain 3-hydroxyacids (major one 3HB and 3 HV) in polymer take out by marine sediments using capillary

gas-chromatographic (GC) from *Bacillus megaterium*. In another study, also conducted on *Bacillus megaterium*, extracted purified polyester was found to contain 95% 3HB, 3% 3-hydroxyheptanoate, 2% 3-hydroxyoctanoate, along with trace quantities of three further 3-hydroxyacids [143].

As far as the solvents used for PHA samples are concerned, chlorinated solutions have develop conditions in favour of derivatization as well as abstraction/removal of PHA using mud in support of GC investigation [126,137,144]. Dichloromethane has also been recommended to increase precision of thermo-polymer inquiry [145]. However, this solvent is correspondingly unwanted through a work-related health and care perceptions [146]. However, chloroform is generally utilized in support of biopolymer detection, additional solvents can also be utilized on behalf of strategy along with treating of biopolymer [147].

Chlorinated solvents are not good for health. Therefore, it was tried to avoid their use in laboratory protocols and is often replaced by propanol/butanol [148]. An environment friendly extraction method for GC analysis was tried to develop by Werker et al [149]. He used activated sludge biomass for PHA production. Instead of chlorinated solvent, acidic alcoholysis of dehydrated bacterial content utilizing 3:1 butanol with rigorous (37%) HCl at 100 °C intended for 8 h was performed. Hexane was used as co-solvent. It hydrolysed the accumulated PHA as well as covering lipids. Esters of hydroxyalkanoates and prolonged chain bacterial fatty acids are dependably taken out in hexane used for GC investigation as well as for its quantity identification. This procedure is striking for predictable assessment as it does not need any chlorinated solutions that are entirely utilized nowadays in favour of PHA investigation via GC.

6.4. PHA analysis by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

This technique is used to separate different constituents of a compound via high pressure to push solvents through the column. HPLC is a most extensively used procedure to identify, quantify and separate the constituents of a mixture [150]. HPLC was used by Karr et al., [134] to quantify poly- β -hydroxybutyrate (PHB) in *Rhizobium Japonicum*. This method can measure crotonic acid in samples comprising 0.01 to 14µg of PHB. Detection and quantification of PHB synthesized in *Cupriavidus necator* done by transforming PHB into crotonic acid via HPLC [151].

Tailor-made PHA was synthesized by *Bacillus cereus* FC11 with the addition of different co-substrates along with glucose in medium. High performance liquid chromatography testing exposed that the retention time of crotonic acid (by-product) gained from digested PHA was approximately 24.97 min which was corresponding to the

retention time of crotonic acid (by-product) gained by the digestion of commercially accessible PHB and PHBV (Sigma–Aldrich) [152] (Fig. 1.14).

6.5. PHA analysis by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR)

NMR techniques have been used effectively for the detection of PHAs. The composition of the hydroxyalkanoate units in a copolymer can be determined by detecting the nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectra [154–157]. The advantage of NMR analysis is that the hydrolysis step of the polymer can be avoided. In NMR analysis, 2-5 mg of the copolymer sample is dissolved in deuteriated chloroform (CDCl₃) (1.0 ml) and high resolution H-NMR spectrum is recorded on a NMR spectrometer.

[acob et al., [158] showed that it was feasible to apply cross polarization magic-angle spinning ¹³C NMR spectra of lyophilized samples of Pseudomonas sp. Strain LBr to examine directly and non-destructively PHB stored and utilized by this microorganism. Same method was utilized by Doi et al., [159] for PHB isolated from A. eutrophus. Doi et al., [160] have also analyzed the configuration of PHB in chloroform solution by 500 MHz ¹H NMR spectroscopy. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance spectrum ¹³C of biogenic PHB (40 mg/ml) was recorded at 100 MHz using CDCl₃ as solvent and the ¹H NMR spectrum was recorded at 400 MHz at 24 °C using Bruker Spectrometer. ¹³C NMR indicating the existence of different types of carbon atoms (C=O, CH, CH₂ and CH₃) in the PHB. The chemical shift signals obtained are almost similar with the chemical shift signals gained for PHB synthesized by Bacillus megaterium and Cupriavidus necator as reported by Doi et al., [161] and Oliviera et al., [162] respectively. PHB was further confirmed from the ¹H NMR spectrum (Fig. 1.15) which showed major peak at 1.2 ppm that may be recognized to the existence of CH₃ side chain. A chain of peaks at 2.4-2.6 ppm clearly specify the existence of CH₂whereas the peak at 5.2 is due to the existence of CH group.

¹H NMR spectra were gained for PHB and PHBV copolymer standards. These peaks match those observed in previous studies [159,164]. The PHB as well as PHBV ¹H NMR calibration curves were gained utilizing industrial standards. The area of each PHA-specific signal was directly proportional to polymer concentration. From the PHBV data, the average copolymer composition was examined as 12.34% \pm 0.52% HV by calculating the intensity ratio of the HB and HV methyl signals at 1.28 and 0.90 ppm respectively. The vendor specified HV content was 12%. The ratio of methine peak areas at 5.2 and 5.16 ppm also gave similar values for HV content [43,159]. The CDCl3 peak at 7.25 ppm served as a reference signal, and the TMS peak at 0.00 ppm was used as an internal standard (Fig. 1.16).



Fig. 1.14. HPLC chromatogram of PHB (upper), PHBV-S (middle) gained from Sigma-Aldrich and PHA gained from Bacillus cereus FC11 (lower) [153].



Fig. 1.15. (a) ¹³C NMR and (b) ¹H NMR spectra of PHB produced by *Bacillus cereus* [163].

Furthermore, ¹H NMR spectrum of PHB produced is seen as Fig. 1.17. PHB peaks at $\delta = 5.2$, 2.5, and 1.2 which correspond to a —CH doublet, —CH2 multiplet, and –CH3 doublet respectively [37]. Two small additional peaks at $\delta = 0.9$ and $\delta = 1.6$ were found may be due to impurities present.

The resonance signals around 1.25-1.43 and 0.83-0.89 ppm designates the presence of methyl group proton (CH₃) in HB and HV. The existence of methylene proton (CH2) in PHA monomers gives multiple resonances around 1.58, 1.68, and 2.17-2.64 ppm. Multiple resonances around 5.24-5.28 ppm showed the presence of the methane proton in PHA and PHV [166–168] (Fig. 1.18).

7. Applications of PHA

A large number of research articles have been published on fermentation, biosynthesis, and characterization of the PHA. Laboratory



Fig. 1.16. (a) Signals observed in ¹H NMR spectra for *C. necator* and (b) signals observed in ¹H NMR spectra for *A. vinelandii* [165].

research has now motivated towards industrial and commercial field. PHA has changeable properties because of their huge variety of different monomeric components and may also be utilized for an extensive variety of uses including recyclable products.

A waterproof coating for film, paper and cardboard can also be formed by latex of PHA (Figure 1.19a) [170]. This is cost operative since a very minor quantity of PHA is necessary for the layer. Similarly, PHA is used to form films, foils and diaphragms. Due to the biodegradability of scl-PHA in soils and home waste cure organisations [49], PHB and its copolymers with HV (PHBV) have been used as biodegradable plastic materials. Characteristics of mcl-PHA are appropriate for several uses, e.g. food, farming, pharmacy, chemistry as well as medicinal uses (Figure 1.19b and c), as of their natural biodegradability and biocompatibility [171]. New handling of mcl-PHA comprises the improvement of composite materials with inorganic, organic or metallic nano-particles or fibers [5] to develop physical characteristics like; tensile strength. Complicated bio-methods along with suitable choice of sources permit formation of ideal mcl-PHA. PHA is also known to generate fibre resources, like; unwoven cloths. Long chain hydroxyacids of PHA have also been utilized in self adherent paste formations [172].

Wella (the German hair-care company) tried to fabricate first time a shampoo bottle (SANARA made of BIOPOL™) in 1992 from the copolymer P(HB–HV) [8]. Biopol[™] was the first trade name given to the copolymer PHBV, and was promoted through ICI/Zeneca as well as from Monsanto until 1995. PHB and copolymer PHBV have also been utilized as watertight films at backside of diaper coverings by U.S. manufacturers. In 2003, various disposable items were made from PHA and commercially distributed in Japan [40]. A German company, Biomer, produced PHB from Alcaligenes latus on industrial scale and used it to make pens, combs and bullets. They also sold polymer pellets for usage in classical transformation methods. This polymer degraded within two months in the environment. Over the last decade, uses have enlarged both in diversity and specialization. Industrial formation of PHBHHx by Aeromonas hydrophilahas was made by Tsinghua University (China) and used the polymer to make flushable, binders, nonwovens, elastic wrapping, synthetic paper, thermoformed articles, and medical devices.

7.1. Biomedical applications of PHA

PHA is also used in many medical applications (Table 1.4), such as bioimplants, cheesecloth, stitch thread, as well as bone fixative components [31,41]. Mcl-PHA are used to produce heart valve gallows [44].



Fig. 1.17. ¹H NMR spectrum of PHB in *Cupriavidus necator* [151].



Fig. 1.18. ¹H NMR spectrum of PHB in Cupriavidus necator [169].

Table 1.4 summarizes medical applications of PHA in detail. Moreover, both types of PHA, scl and mcl-PHA, have applications in orthopedy, dental treatment, and drug [173] delivery and to make skin substitutes during wound management (Table 1.4). Wrapping layers and containers, biodecomposabe transporters for controlled chemical and drug discharge, sutures, and surgical pins, decomposable items, wound bandages and bone replacements also include in their applications in biomedical field.

PHA also have commercial power, e.g. cross linked mcl-PHA were used as biodegradable rubber-like materials [85]. They were applied like; stereo-regular molecules and chiral originators for chemical production of optically stimulated or chiral molecules [40]. PHA can be readily depolymerised to R-3-hydroxyalkanoic acids by acidic hydrolysis, or by enzymatic depolymerisation [171]. These hydroxyalkanoic acids are used to synthesize β - and γ -amino acids or peptides (novel polymers) [171]. They can then serve as novel nutrition sources and mono-functional spacers for peptide-related drugs [171]. PHA have been studied as biodecomposable transporters for long span dose of medicines, narcotic, pesticides as well as weed killer [40].

Characteristics of PHAs like; biodegradation, biocompatibility, nontoxicity, porosity, interference adherence, molecular weight and energy are the essential requirements for choice of polymer as biomedical



Fig. 1.19. Uses of PHA biopolymer in different fields [41]. (a) bioplastics, (b) foods and seeds, (c) drugs and chemicals, (d) fermentational usage, (e) bio-implants and medical usage, (e) biofuels.

Table 1.4

Possible uses of PHA in medication [174].

Type of application	Products	Type of PHA
Vascular system	Heart valves, pericardial patches, vascular grafts, cardiovascular fabrics	Mcl
Wound management	Nerve cuffs, skin substitutes, sutures, staples, surgical meshes, swabs	Scl, mcl
Urology	Urological stents	Scl, mcl
Orthopedy	Cartilage engineering, bone graft substitutes, spinal cages, internal fixation screws	Scl, mcl
Dental	Barrier material for guided tissue regeneration in periodontosis	Scl, mcl
Computer assisted tom-ography and ultrasound imaging	Micro and nanosphere of anticancer therapy	Scl, mcl
Drug delivery	Micro and nanosphere of anticancer therapy	Scl, mcl

implantations [174,175]. Scl and mcl-PHA have showed the excellent biocompatibility to epithelial cells [176], adreno cortical cells [177], smooth muscle cells [178], chondrocytes [179], bone marrow cells, osteoblast, human keratinocyte cells [50], human adipose derived stem cells [180]. PHA-based implants are considered biological safe due to its properties. They do not show any immune response in the host organism [174]. Firstly reported bio implant materials are poly (3HO-co-3HHx) base tubes, films, microspheres as well as tablets in rats the same as animal exemplary as well as revealed to be susceptible and biocompatible [181]. Some studies reported that PHB, PHBV as well as PHBHHx layers are used like blood connection materials [178]. Similarly, PHB based patches are used in gastro intestinal tract of dog did not show any negative response [182]. Bio polymers are majorly used in tissue manufacturing. Tissue engineering is technique of science that targets to redevelop damaged tissue and unhealthy tissue into new tissue by biomaterial implantations [183,184]. There are also two kinds of tissue engineering one is soft as well as other is hard tissue engineering. During soft tissue engineering technique the material is more porous biodegradable scaffold and implant with other cell types followed through the ex-vivo tissue development examples are heart, liver, valve, skin and nerve tissue engineering and hard type scaffold inserted like; the bioactive support for develop new cells examples are bone and cartilage tissue engineering [185].

7.1.1. Vascular grafting

Vascular grafting is the repairing of arteries and veins in cardiovascular pathologies. The end stage of the cure for the cardiovascular diseases is the surgical substitutions of the tissues by auto-graft (same organism), xenography, homograft or synthetic prostheses (natural and synthetic materials used for cure of veins or vascular heart disorders. Composites from PHA are considered as valuable materials for treatment of vascular disorders by cardiovascular patches, stents, vein valves and pericardial patches [174] [186]. Some studies reported that the improvement of PHBHHx scaffold via fibronectin cells covering and plasma treatment for the better outputs. They observed better proliferation of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) by ammonia coated polymer with the combination of plasma coated PHBHHx (PFn-PHBHHx) instead of only using fibronectin coated polymer [187]. PHBV and PHBHHx are considered as good materials for the treatment of cardiovascular disorders. Scaffolds of PHBV with poly caprolactone (PCL) are getting more importance due to their properties [188]. PHBV and PHBV-PCL scaffolds are considered as future biomaterials for the cardiovascular grafting [189]. Blended scaffolds are most beneficial then the pure scaffolds of PHBV and PHBHHx because they show the dual characteristics of biomaterials [190]. Novel amphiphilic materials with good biocompatibility for possible blood contact applications with hydrogel properties were reported [191].

7.1.2. Heart tissue engineering

Polyhydroxyalkanoates play a great role for the better proliferation of heart valve tissue. Scl and Mcl PHAs based scaffolds observed very effective for the heart valve tissue engineering technique from previous days [173]. Fu et al., stated that the fabricated scaffolds consisting of poly glycolic acid and poly 4-hydroxybutyrate showed fast growth of human body pediatric aortic cells [192]. Wu et al., used the coated scaffold of PHBHHx for the aortic valves and implanted into sheep about 16 weeks [193]. Coated scaffolds showed better proliferation as compared to the un-coated scaffolds. The blends of PHO/PHB have many valuable characteristics, they were well penetrated in host cells and made it more permeable and elastic as compared to pure scaffolds, they are considering the best blended polymers for the future biomaterials [194].

7.1.3. Skin tissue repairing

Skin is biggest organ of individual body. Significance researches have been done for the PHA-dependent scaffolds applications on skin tissue repairing [176,195]. Terpolyester poly (3HB-*co*-HV-co-HHx) was very good biomaterial for the development of HaCat because of its mechanical or thermal properties [196]. Now these days 2-D and 3-D PHBV polyesters are used for the proliferation and better cell adhesion in skin cells due to their mechanical properties. PHBV and 2-D PHBV have been studied for the good cell union and propagation like contrast to polystyrene [197]. Composites of PHBV fabricated with Chitosan instead of pure PHBV polymer have been studied especially for the repairing of wound tissue [198]. As the developing of 3-D macroporous chitin/PHBV hydrogel blends are considered good material for the skin tissue engineering [199]. Many studies developed that the blended polyesters of PHBV majorly used for the adhesion and properties.

7.1.4. Liver tissue engineering

In present there are large numbers of improvements in PHA developed for the liver tissue culturing. But they are still not completely explored for the liver tissue engineering. As Zu et al., developed the fabricated scaffolds of PHBV for the liver tissue culturing [200]. Culturing of human hepatoma HepG2 and Hep3B developed by the scaffolds, microspheres and films of PHBV. Some studies demonstrated that the good proliferation property of microspheres as compared to the films because of enhancement of cells through accumulation of hepatic cells of body. The improvement of union and propagation of Hep3B was observed by the fabrication of ECM protein-modified PHBV scaffolds. ECM proteins are the collagen, fibronectin and laminin, they are blended with PHBV microspheres, enhance the activity of polymer. Blended PHBV/PLGA evaluated and developed the polymer as the model of hepatocyte growth factor as compare with uncontaminated PHBV or uncontaminated PLGA [201].

7.1.5. Nerve tissue engineering

Nerve tissue manufacturing technique is repairing peripheral nervous system damages. Natural polyesters are considered as the good and valuable biomaterials for cure of peripheral nervous system disorders. Natural biodegradable or biocompatible materials are considered as good nerve conduit materials. Scl and mcl-PHA are used for the treatment of nerve tissue and for the regeneration of nervous cells [202]. Some studies reported that the PHBHHx used for the Schwann cells regeneration with the PHB [203]. Other studies also reported that the blend of PHBHHx with the poly (DL-lactide) has the good ability for nerve conduits [204]. Blended PHBHHx developed the valuable results due to the reduced crystallinity of PHBHHx/PDLLA as compared to the pure PHBHHx. On other hand blended PHBV microtubules with the PLGA attained the attention of scientists to develop the more elastic fabricated films for the nerve tissue engineering [205]. The other type of blended composite of PHBV with the Collagen has also been used for the regeneration of nerve tissue. Mostly blended microspheres or films PHBV/Collagen are used instead of pure polymer because they showed high proliferation ability of nerve cells as compared to pure polymer [206]. Masaeli et al., made the Electrospun scaffolds from the mixing of PHB and PHBV nano-fibers for myelinic cell redevelopment [207].

7.1.6. Bone tissue engineering

Bone and cartilage tissue manufacturing technique is difficult type of tissue manufacturing. Tissue engineering technique is great development of damaged and missing bone or cartilage tissues. For this purpose, scaffolds of biopolymers are used due to their high mechanical properties and regulation of osteoblast and chondrocytes. In human bodies the bone composition is 40% collagen and 60% HA. Mainly scl-PHA is good for the repairing of bone tissues due to their toughness and stiffness properties. Many researches have also been done for the development of hard tissue engineering by mcl-PHA due to their high mechanical power and more elasticity as compared to others. Wang et al., established the 3-D scaffolds of PHB, PHBV, PLA, and PHBHHx for the good adhesion and proliferation characteristics [208]. Li et al., stated that compatibility to PHBHHx-dependent scaffolds, enhance the Ca⁺ and collagen deposition for the proliferation of osteoblast as compared to pure PLA and PHB [209]. Cool et al., reported that the PHBVbased scaffolds with nano-sized HA (n-HA) resulted the better mineralization and less inflammatory responses as compared to other biopolymers [210]. Hayati developed the scaffolds of PHB with the blending of n-HA composites (PHB/HA), showed the porosity and mechanical properties equal to the natural bone tissues [211,212]. Sultana also developed the scaffolds of PHBV with the high content of HA resulted the high porous and good mechanical product which is suitable for better proliferation and adhesion of osteoblast and chondrocytes [213]. Misra et al., designed the scaffold of PHB with the blending of bioactive glass BG (PHB/BG). Scaffolds of PHB/BG showed the better proliferation of osteoblast and no immune response after implementation of 1 week in rat [214].

7.1.7. Cartilage tissue engineering

Cartilage tissue manufacturing is also hard type in hard tissue manufacturing technique. Many researches have been done on the development of PHA scaffolds. Many types of PHAs are considered as the good biomaterials for implantation of cartilage tissues. PHB, PHBV, PHBHHx are the most efficient biomaterials for the regeneration of chondrocytes due to their more elastic, good proliferation and better adhesion properties [179]. Wang designed the 3-D scaffolds of PHBHHx along with engineered PHBHHx for the cartilage tissue repairing in the rabbit like as the model animal [186]. Yu et al., grown the blended PHB/PHBHHx for the integration of haSCs to improve proliferation and then inserted to hypodermic coating of cartilage of mouse like as model animal [215]. Li et al., developed the blended polymer by assimilation of poly (L-lactide-co-E-caprolactone) PLCL increase mechanical characteristics of PHB as for the cartilage tissue engineering [216]. PHBV/PLCL scaffolds showed the better proliferation and mechanical properties as compared to the pure PLCL and PHBV microspheres.

7.1.8. Therapeutic carrier

The chief drawbacks of conventional therapeutic systems are the poor oral bioavailability, toxicity, inconsistency and non definite distribution of therapeutics into targeted or non-targeted cells in past few decades [217]. Now these days there are some improvements developed for drug deliverance systems. Biomaterials are valuable polymers used in favour of delivery of drugs, hormones, antibiotics, gene therapy agents, anti-inflammatory, antioxidants and immunogens [218]. The PHA-based biopolymers considered as a good carrier for drug deliveries due to their biocompatible, biodegradable, non-toxic, porosity and more elastic behavior [219]. Scl-PHA matrix is used as the drug delivery

carriers. But they are inappropriate for the drug delivery because they release the drug by the PHA matrix because of their crystal-like nature [174,209]. PHA-based nano-particles are considered to have the important factors for the therapeutic carriers of drug delivery [220]. PHBbased nanoparticles are used for the best therapeutic carriers for drug delivery in animals [221]. Functionalized PHBHHx-based watersoluble thermogels have been reported as the drug carrier for docetaxel (DTX) [222]. The use of doxorubicin loaded in the gel was tested with human fibroblast cell lines. A quadriblock system of PHBH/PEG/PPG/ urethane where PHBH represented the hydrophobic moiety, while PEG and PPG represented the hydrophilic and thermolabile segments respectively, allowed an efficient docetaxel drug loading and melanoma reduction in xenograft of mouse models [223]. PHB as well as PHBHHx based nano-particles are utilized in favour of effective drug delivery purposes [224]. Poly (3-HB-co-5 mol%3-HV) PHBV-S, poly (3-HB-co-11 mol%3-HV) PHBV-11 and poly (3-HB-co-15%mol3-HV) PHBV-15 used for anticancer drug ellipticin due to their biodegradable properties [225]. Shah et al., developed the amphiphilic nano-particle of PHA/ mPEG by the blending of PHA into monomethoxy poly (Ethylene Glycol) showed the better results for the drug deliveries [226]. Shah also developed the blended polymer poly (3HB-co-4HB) they associated along with to reduce toxicity related to drug dosing [227]. The degradation rate of copolymers PHB[>]PHBV[>]PHBHHx was depended on the side chain length [228].

8. Self-healing biopolymers: a new era in the field of biopolymers

Self-healing materials are very useful for high-performance structures and considered as the next generation materials. The specific functions performed by the self healing materials are the repairing of microscopic and macroscopic damages in polymer composites. Polymer and fibre-reinforced polymers (FRPs) are used the same as general structural materials because of their low weight, easy processability and useful for adverse environmental impacts. Low velocity and high velocity impacts are the critical issues for the FRPs. Micro-cracks are the basic reason for degradation of polymer. If micro-cracks are untreated they lead to the macro level cracks which are the main cause of polymer failures. To overcome these failures, next generation self healing polymer is used for the automatic healing of destructive polymer. Diverse kinds of repairing methods are utilized conventionally for the polymer repairing. Similarly, thermoplastics are very useful for the self healing process because of their excellent mechanical as well as thermal characteristics. Personally curing of thermoplastics can also be attained through the diverse process or mechanisms [229]. A detailed description is given below.

8.1. Molecular interdiffusion

Many researches have been done on the self healing of biopolymers via molecular interdiffusion in 1980s. It has been revealed when two fragments of similar polymer come closer to each other at the temperature higher than its crystal transition temperature (T_{g}) , then polymer crossing point slowly decreases and mechanical power of polymerpolymer interface rises. Then fissure heals slowly because of the polymer interface dispersion at atmospheric stress or in space or at temperature greater glass transition temperature (T_g) as described in Fig. 1.20. Glass transition temperature ranges start -50 °C and reaches upto +100 °C. Other studies have been developed for the influence of molecular mass and rate of copolymerization on fissure curing. Jud and Kausch considered fissure curing manners of copolymer of poly (methyl methacrylate) as well as poly (methoxy ethylacrylate) [229]. Self healing depends upon some experimental parameters which are investigated by these researchers. Crack healing depends upon the period among fracturing and linking of fracturing surfaces, curing period (more than 1 min), healing temperature (5 °C more than the glass transition temperature), and atmospheric pressure. These parameters

International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 166 (2021) 297-321



Fig. 1.20. Self healing of biopolymer via molecular interdiffusion [230,234].

required for the significant growth of interface adhesion. Number of models was proposed by many researchers [230–232] for the crack healing of thermoplastics like model of chain dynamics established from de Gennes [232] and later Doi and Edward [233].

8.2. Photo-induced healing

Kind of photo-induced self-healing in PMMA was stated from Chung et al., [235]. In this mechanism photo-addition cyclobutane produced by the photochemical [235] cycloaddition of cinnamoyl [236] and turnaround of cyclobutane to original cinnamoyl happens in solid phase may leads to the crack formation [237]. The mixture of 1,1,1-tris (cinnamoyloxymethyl) ethane (TCE) as well as urethane dimethacrylate (UDME), triethyleneglycol dimethylacrylate (TEGDMA) as well as a sensible light photoinitiator camphorquinone (CQ) was polymerized in a tough as well as clear film after the exclusion with 280 nm light source for 10 min. Healing of fracture polymer developed through re-irradiation for 10 min and light source range greater than 280 nm.

8.3. Recombination of chain ends

Reassociation of chain ending is a considerably new method used for the healing of molecular and structural damages in thermoplastics. Some studies reported that the engineering biopolymer produced by the condensation reactions like polycarbonate (PC), polyether-ketone (PEK), polybutylene terephthalate (PBT), and PEEK can be developed by fundamental reaction that is reversible of chain scission reaction [238,239]. Number of events was recognized primarily throughout healing method. These events are formation of chain breakage because of degradation, then propagation of oxygen into polymer material, then reassociation of cleaved polymer via the redox reaction in existance of copper catalyst and then removal of water during healing process.

8.4. Self-healing via reversible bond formation

Thermoplastic fractures can also be healed by the inclusion of reversible bond at ambient temperature in polymer matrix. This supply an altenative method to UV light and catalyst started curing of covalent bonds because explained in earlier studies along with utilization of hydrogen bonding and ionic linkages to repair breaked polymer networks.

9. Conclusion and future perspective

Thermoplastics are considered as the green materials. Biopolymers are biogedradable candidates in place of petro-chemical plastics. The basic problem for formation of PHAs are maximum formation cost in contrast to the petro-chemical plastics production cost. Main research and developments are still required to minimize cost of PHA production by using suitable extraction methods. Mainly the PHA produced from fermentation is the mixture of different monomers instead of single type monomer. Many developments are needed to be producing the single type of monomer by different strategies. Geneticaly modified strain are specific areas to increase the growth or accumulation rate within cells and to produce single type of mononer instead of mixture of copolymer. These biodegradable biopolymers have great application in medical field for high purity, efficient extraction and recovery method for the development of good yield. Genetically modified gram-negative strain can also be used to enhance purity of polymer and good yield with the effective recovery and extraction methods. These bacteria can produce toxin free polymers which are highly effective for biomedical applications. Modified gram-positive strain can also be used for maximum yield and toxin free biopolymer production. This is highly useful for the biomedical applications. Also thermoplastics have great importance due to their properties; they are used as self healing biopolymer. Many developments are required to modify these self healing capabilities of biopolymers. Estimated at USD 57 million in 2019, the global polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) market size is projected to reach USD 98 by 2024, growing at a CAGR of 11.2%. Increasing demand for biodegradable plastics fuelled by stringent government regulations & policies against single-use plastics and trends related to sustainable development and circular economy are driving the PHA industry. Europe is the key market for PHA, globally, followed by North America and APAC. The presence of various PHA players, such as Bioon (Italy), Biomer (Germany), Natureplast (France), ColorFabb (Netherlands), and EarthBi (Germany), has a positive impact the market. The short-chain length type is estimated to lead the PHA market in terms of value and volume. The growing awareness regarding plastic waste creation resulting in an ecological imbalance has changed the market sentiments positively towards sustainable products, hence creating a surge in demand for biodegradable plastics. This factor plays a crucial role in increasing the demand for short-chain length and medium-chain length PHA. Europe is expected to account for the largest market share in PHA during the forecast period, in terms of value. For future perspectives, to make them cost effective by using inexpensive carbon sources, by manufacturing the biocomposites/blends with other biodegradable polymers and fillers. There should be the advancement developed in sustainability of PHA as well as the consideration of the market acceptance. With respect to develop policy advice, great efforts will be required for the introduction and guidance about PHA significances to the consumers rather than the PHA manufacturers. There are many application fields like; in medical field, in packaging, toys as well as for construction aspects, PHA has great importance than petroleum based plastics. Biodegradable and biocompatible polymers are considered as the green materials in place of petroleum based plastics in the future.

References

- C. Rivard, Starch esters as biodegradable plastics: effects of ester group chain length and degree of substitution on anaerobic biodegradation, Enzy. and Microb. Technol. 17 (9) (1995) 848–852.
- Y. Poirier, C. Nawrath, a.C. Somerville, Production of polyhydroxyalkanoates, a family of biodegradable plastics and elastomers, in bacteria and plants, Nat. Biotech. 13 (2) (1995) 142–150.
- [3] A.J. Anderson, a.F.A. Dawes, Occucrence, metabolism, metabolic role and industrial uses of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates, Microbiol. Rev. 54 (1990) 450–472.
- [4] S. Obruca, et al., Novel unexpected functions of PHA granules, App. Microbiol. and Biotechnol. 104 (16) (2020) 1–16.
- [5] S.K. Misra, Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA)/inorganic phase composites for tissue engineering applications, Biomacromol 7 (8) (2006) 2249–2258.
- [6] G. Braunegg, G. Lefebvre, a.K.F. Genser, Polyhydroxyalkanoates, biopolyesters from renewable resources: physiological and engineering aspects, J. Biotechnol. 65 (2–3) (1998) 127–161.
- [7] T.V. Ojumu, J. Yu, a.B.O. Solomon, Production of Polyhydroxyalkanoates, a bacterial biodegradable polymer, Afri. J. of Biotechnol. 3 (1) (2004) 18–24.
- [8] S.Y. Lee, Bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 49 (1) (1996) 1–14.
- [9] P.J. Hocking, a.R. Marchessault, in: G.J.L. Griffin (Ed.), Chemistry and Technology of Biodegradable Polymers, Blackie Academic, New York 1994, pp. 48–96.
- [10] A. Steinbüchel, a.B. Fuchtenbusch, Bacteria and other biological systems for polyester production, Tibtech 16 (1998) 419–427.
- [11] S. Taguchi, a.Y. Doi, Evolution of Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) production system by "enzyme evolution": successful case studies of directed evolution, Macromol. Biosci. 4 (3) (2004) 145–156.
- [12] D. Jendrossek, a.R. Handrick, Microbial degradation of polyhydroxyalkanoates, Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 56 (2002) 403–432.
- [13] L. Zibiao, Y. Jing, a.J.L. Xian, Polyhydroxyalkanoates: opening doors for a sustainable future, NPG Asia Mater 8 (2016) 265.
- [14] Z. Li, a.X.J. Loh, Water soluble polyhydroxyalkanoates: future materials for therapeutic applications, Chem. Soc. Rev. 44 (2015) 2865–2879.
- [15] J.W. Park, Y. Doi, a.T. Iwata, Biomacromol. 5 (2004) 1557.
- [16] A.M. El-Hadi, Poly. Eng. & Sci. 51 (2011) 2191.
- [17] Z.R. Analysis, Global Wood-Plastic Composites Market Set for Rapid Growth, to Reach around Usd 6.0 Billion by 2020, 2015.
- [18] C. Vinicius, et al., Effect of Babassu natural filler on PBAT/PHB biodegradable blends: an investigation of thermal, mechanical, and morphological behavior, Materials 11 (2018) 820.
- [19] European bioplastics, Institute for Bioplastics and Biocomposites, Nova Institute, 2015.
- [20] https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/biodegradable-plastics-93. html.
- [21] M. Lemoigne, Products of dehydration and of polymerization of Polyhydroxybutyric acid, Bull. Soc. Chem. Biol. 8 (1926) 770–782.
- [22] M. Lemoigne, Etudes sur l'autolyse microbieÁnne origine de l'acide b-oxybutyrique forme par autolyse, Ann. Inst. Pasteur. 41 (1927) 148–165.
- [23] Delaportbe Lemoignme, a. Crosonm, Contribution l'ktude botanique et biochimique des bactkries du genre Bacillus valeur du test des lipides /3hydroxybutyriques pour la charactkrisation des espèces, Ann. Inst. Pasteur. 70 (1944) 224.
- [24] G. Lemoignme, Rkserves lipidiques B-hydroxybutyriques chez Azotobacter chroococcum, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 217 (1943) 557.
- [25] R.L. King, a.H.W. Beams, Ultracentrifugation and cytology of Spirillum volutans, J. of Bacteriol. 44 (5) (1942) 597-609.
- [26] D.H. Williamson, a.J.F. Wilkinson, The isolation and estimation of the poly-{beta}hydroxy-butyrate inclusions of Bacillus species, J. Gen. Microbiol. 19 (1) (1958) 198–209.
- [27] E.A. Dawes, P.J. Senior, The role and regulation of energy reserve polymers in micro-organisms, Advances in Microbial Physiology, Academic Press 1973, pp. 135–266.
- [28] de Smet, M.J., Characterization of intracellular inclusions formed by Pseudomonas oleovorans during growth on octane. J. of Bacteriol., 1983. 152(2): p. 870–878.
- [29] M. Kunioka, Y. Nakamura, a.D. Y. New bacterial copolyesters produced in Alcaligenes eutrophus from organic acids, Polym. Commun. 29 (1988) 174–176.

- [30] Y. Doi, Biosynthesis of terpolyesters of 3-hydroxybutyrate, 3-hydroxyvalerate, and 5-hydroxyvalerate in alcaligenes eutrophus from 5-chloropentanoic and pentanoic acids, Die Makromol. Chemie, Rap. Commun. 8 (12) (1987) 631–635.
- [31] K. Sudesh, H. Abe, a.Y. Doi, Synthesis, structure and properties of polyhydroxyalkanoates: biological polyesters, Prog. in Poly. Sci. 25 (10) (2000) 1503–1555.
- [32] T.U. Gerngross, Immunocytochemical analysis of poly-beta-hydroxybutyrate (PHB) synthase in Alcaligenes eutrophus H16: localization of the synthase enzyme at the surface of PHB granules, J. Bacteriol. 175 (6) (1993) 5289–5293.
- [33] S.Y. Lee, a.H.N. Chang, Effect of complex nitrogen source on the synthesis and accumulation of poly-hydroxybutyric acid by recombinant Escherichia coli in flask and fed-batch cultures, J. of Env. Poly. Deg. 2 (1994) 169–176.
- [34] R. Shen, et al., Benzene containing polyhydroxyalkanoates homo and copolymers synthesized by genome edited Pseudomonas entomophila, Sci. China Life Sci. 57 (2014) 4–10.
- [35] H.T. Yue, et al., A seawater-based open and continuous process for polyhydroxyalkanoates production by recombinant Halomonas campaniensis LS21 grown in mixed substrates, Biotechnol. Biofuels 7 (2014) 108.
- [36] J.M. Luengo, Bioplastics from microorganisms, Cur. Opin. in Microbiol. 6 (3) (2003) 251–260.
- [37] T.L. Bluhm, et al., Macromol. 19 (1986) 2871-2876.
- [38] M. Koller, Chemical and biochemical engineering approaches in manufacturing polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) biopolyesters of tailored structure with focus on the diversity of building blocks, Chem. Biochem. Eng. Q. 32 (2018) 413–438.
- [39] H. Brandl, Ability of the phototrophic bacterium Rhodospirillum rubrum to produce various poly ([beta]-hydroxyalkanoates): potential sources for biodegradable polyesters, Int. J. of Bio. Macromol. 11 (1) (1989) 49–55.
- [40] C.S. Reddy, Polyhydroxyalkanoates: an overview, Bioresour. Technol. 86 (2003) 137–146.
- [41] G.Q. Chen, a.Q. Wu, The application of polyhydroxyalkanoates as tissue engineering materials, Biomater 26 (33) (2005) 6565–6578.
- [42] A. Steinbüchel, et al., Considerations on the structure and biochemistry of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoic acid inclusions, Can.J. Microbiol. 41 (1995) 94–105.
- [43] P. Furrer, et al., Quantitative analysis of bacterial medium-chainlength poly([R]-3hydroxyalkanoates) by gas chromatography, J. Chromatogr. A 1143 (1–2) (2007) 199–206.
- [44] M. Zinn, B. Witholt, a.T. Egli, Occurrence, synthesis and medical application of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoate, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 53 (2001) 5–12.
- [45] B. Rehm, Polyester synthases: natural catalysts for plastics, Biochem. J. 376 (2003) 15–33.
- [46] Steinbüchel, H.J. Rehm, a.G. Reed, Biotechnol, Wiley, 1996 405.
- [47] A. Steinbüchel, a.H. Schlegel, Physiology and molecular genetics of poly(bhydroxyalkanoic acid) synthesis in Alcaligenes eutrophus, Mol. Microbiol. 5 (1991) 535–542.
- [48] P.A. Holmes, Biologically produced (R)-3-hydroxyalkanoate polymers and copolymers, in: D.C. Bassett (Ed.), Developments in Crystalline Polymers, vol. 2, Elsevier, London 1988, pp. 1–65.
- [49] P.A. Holmes, Applications of PHB microbially produced biodegradable thermoplastic, Physics in Technol 16 (1) (1985) 32.
- [50] Q. Liu, a.G.Q. Chen, In vitro biocompatibility and degradation of terpolyester 3HBco 4HB-co-3HHx, consisting of 3-hydroxybutyrate, 4-hydroxybutyrate and 3hydroxyhexanoate, J. of Biomater. Sci. and Poly. 9 (2008) 1521–1533.
- [51] W. Liu, G. Chen, Production and characterization of medium-chain-length polyhydroxyalkanoate with high 3-hydroxytetradecanoate monomer content by *fadB* and *fadA* knockout mutant of *Pseudomonas putida* KT2442, App. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 76 (2007) 1153–1159.
- [52] B.S. Kim, Production of poly(3-hydroxybutyric acid) by fed-batch culture of Alcaligenes eutrophus with glucose concentration control, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 43 (9) (1994) 892–898.
- [53] S.W. Kim, Production of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) from Methylobacterium organophilum by potassium-limited fed-batch culture, Enzy. and Microb. Technol. 24 (8–9) (1999) 555–560.
- [54] A.J. Anderson, E.A. Dawes, Occurrence, metabolism, metabolic role, and industrial uses of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates, Microbiol. (54) (1990) 450–472 Rev.
- [55] S.Y. Lee, Removal of endotoxin during purification of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) from gram-negative bacteria, App. Environ. Microbiol, 65 (1999) 2762–2764.
- [56] R.M. Macrae, a.J.F. Wilkinson, Poly-{beta}-hyroxybutyrate metabolism in washed suspensions of Bacillus cereus and Bacillus megaterium, J. Gen. Microbiol. 19 (1) (1958) 210–222.
- [57] J. Sung-Jin, Production system for biodegradable polyester polyhydroxybutyrate by Corynebacterium glutamicum, J. Biosci. Bioeng. 102 (3) (2006) 233–236.
- [58] G. Haywood, et al., Accumulation of a poly(hydroxyalkanoate) copolymer containing primarily 3-hydroxyvalerate from simple carbohydrate substrates by Rhodococcus sp. NCIMB 40126, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 13 (1991) 83–88.
- [59] S. Khanna, a.A.K. Srivastava, Recent advances in microbial polyhydroxyalkanoates, Process Biochem. 40 (2) (2005) 607–619.
- [60] P. Furrer, S. Panke, a.M. Zinn, Efficient recovery of low endotoxin medium-chainlength poly([R]-3-hydroxyalkanoate) from bacterial biomass, J. Microbiol. Methods 69 (2007) 206–213.
- [61] J.Y. Chee, Bacterially produced polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA): converting renewable resources into bioplastics, App. Microbiol. and Microbial. Biotechnol. 2 (2010) 1395–1404.
- [62] S. Kulpreecha, et al., Inexpensive fed-batch cultivation for high poly (3hydroxybutyrate) production by a new isolate of Bacillus megaterium, J. Biosci. Bioeng, 107 (2009) 240–245.

- [63] A. Atlić, et al., Continuous production of poly([R]-3-hydroxybutyrate) by Cupriavidus necator in a multistage bioreactor cascade, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 91 (2) (2011) 295–304.
- [64] S. Valappil, Polyhydroxyalkanoates in gram positive bacteria: insights from the genera Bacillus and Streptomyces, Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 91 (1) (2007) 1–17.
- [65] W. Blunt, et al., Development of high cell density cultivation strategies for improved medium chain length polyhydroxyalkanoate productivity using Pseudomonas putida LS46, Bioengineering 6 (2019) 89.
- [66] L.I. de Eugenio, Biochemical evidence that phaZ gene encodes a specific intracellular medium chain length polyhydroxyalkanoate depolymerase in Pseudomonas putida KT2442: characterization of a paradigmatic enzyme, J. of Biol. Chem. 282 (7) (2007) 4951–4962.
- [67] Z.F. Sun, a.J.A. Ramsay, Carbon-limited fed-batch production of medium-chainlength polyhydroxyalkanoates from nonanoic acid by Pseudomonas putida KT2440, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 74 (1) (2007) 69–77.
- [68] B.S. Kim, Production of medium chain length polyhydroxy- alkanoates by fedbatch culture of Pseudomonas oleovorans, Biotechnol. Lett. 24 (2002) 125–130.
- [69] H. Salehizadeh, a.M.C.M.V. Loosdrecht, Production of polyhydroxyalkanolates by mixed culture: recent trends and biotechnological importance, Biotechnol. Adv. 22 (2004) 261–279.
- [70] A. Steinbüchel, Molecular basis for biosynthesis and accumulation of polyhydroxyalkanoic acids in bacteria, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 103 (2–4) (2002) 217–230.
- [71] A. Steinbüchel, a.S. Hein, Biochemical and molecular basis of microbial synthesis of polyhydroxyalkanoates in microorganisms, Adv. Biochem. Engin. Biotechnol. 71 (2001) 81–123.
- [72] J. Stubbe, a.T. J. Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) hemeostasis: the role of PHA synthase, Nat. Prod. Rep. 20 (2003) 445–457.
- [73] S. Slater, Multiple β-ketothiolases mediate poly(β-hydroxyalkanoate) copolymer synthesis in Ralstonia eutropha, J. Bacteriol. 180 (1998) 1979–1987.
- [74] Y. Poirier, N. Erard, a.P.J. M. Synthesis of polyhydroxyalkanoate in the peroxisome of Pichia pastoris, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 207 (2002) 97–102.
- [75] B.A. Rehm, Genetics and biochemistry of polyhydroxyalkanoate granule selfassembly: the key role of polyester synthases, Biotechnol. Lett. 28 (4) (2006) 207–213.
- [76] M. Liebergesell, a.S. A, Cloning and nucleotide sequences of genes relevant for biosynthesis of poly(3-hydroxybutyric acid) in Chromatium vinosum strain D, Eur. J. Biochem. 209 (1992) 135–150.
- [77] M. Liebergesell, a.S. A, Cloning and molecular analysis of the poly(3hydroxybutyric acid) biosynthetic genes of Thiocystis violacea, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 38 (1993) 493–501.
- [78] Fukui, T., N. Shiomi, and a.D. Y. Expression and characterization of (R)-specific enoyl Coenzyme A hydratase involved in polyhydroxyalkanoate biosynthesis by Aeromonas caviae. J. Bacteriol., 1998. 180: p. 667–73.
- [79] T. Fukui, a.D. Y. Cloning and analysis of the poly(3-hydroxybutyrateco-3hydroxyhexanoate) biosynthesis genes of Aeromonas caviae, J. Bacteriol. 179 (1997) 4821–4830.
- [80] L.L. Wallen, a.W.K. Rohwedder, Poly-beta-hydroxyalkanoate from activated sludge, Env. Sci. & Technol. 8 (6) (1974) 576–579.
- [81] G.N.M. Huijberts, a.G. Eggink, Production of poly(3-hydroxyalkanoates) by Pseudomonas putida KT2442 in continuous cultures, App. Microbiol. and Biotechnol. 46 (3) (1996) 233–239.
- [82] G. Huijberts, ¹³C nuclear magnetic resonance studies of Pseudomonas putida fatty acid metabolic routes involved in poly(3-hydroxyalkanoate) synthesis, J. Bacteriol. 17 (6) (1994) 1661–1666.
- [83] H. Matsusaki, Cloning and molecular Analysis of the poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) and poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyalkanoate) biosynthesis genes in Pseudomonas sp. strain 61-3, J. of Bacteriol. 180 (24) (1998) 6459–6467.
- [84] Q. Liu, Biosynthesis of poly(3-hydroxydecanoate) and 3-hydroxydodecanoate dominating polyhydroxyalkanoates by β-oxidation pathway inhibited Pseudomonas putida, Meta. Eng. 13 (1) (2011) 11–17.
- [85] P.C. Furrer, Medium-chain-length Poly([R]-3-Hydroxyalkanoates): From Biosynthesis Towards Medical Applications, Dipl. Chem. Uni. of Basel, 2008.
- [86] E.R. Olivera, Two different pathways are involved in the β-oxidation of n-alkanoic and n-phenylalkanoic acids in Pseudomonas putida U: genetic studies and biotechnological applications, Mol. Microbiol. 39 (4) (2001) 863–874.
- [87] T. Christopher, et al., Expression of 3-ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein Reductase (fabG) genes enhances production of polyhydroxyalkanoate copolymer from glucose in recombinant Escherichia coli JM109, App. and env. Microbiol. 71 (8) (2005) 4297–4306.
- [88] I.S. Aldor, a.J.D. Keasling, Process design for microbial plastic factories: metabolic engineering of polyhydroxyalkanoates, Current Opi. in Biotechnol. 14 (5) (2003) 475–483.
- [89] L.L. Madison, a.G.W. Huisman, Metabolic engineering of poly(3hydroxyalkanoates): from DNA to plastic, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 63 (1999) 21–53.
- [90] A. María, a. Prieto, Synthesis and degradation of polyhydroxyalkanoates, in: Juan-Luis Ramos, Alain Filloux (Eds.), Pseudomonas 2007, pp. 397–428.
- [91] E. Diaz, a.M.A.A. Prieto, Bacterial promoters triggering biodegradation of aromatic pollutants, Current Opinion in Biotechnol 11 (5) (2000) 467–475.
- [92] A. Prieto, et al., A holistic view of polyhydroxyalkanoate metabolism in Pseudomonas putida, Env. Microbiol. 18 (2) (2015) 341–357.
- [93] N. Sierro, Bi-functionality of the PhaF Protein of Pseudomonas putida in the Polyhydroxyalkanoate Production Process. Ph.D. Thesis, Swiss Federal Institute of Technol, Zurich, 2005.

- [94] A. Sandoval, Biosíntesis de polihidroxialcanoatos en Pseudomonas putida U: Análisis genético y funcional de los elementos implicados en la estabilización intracelular del gránulo, Ph.D. Thesis Universidad de León, 2005.
- [95] M.B. Pedersen, et al., Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol. 3 (2012) 37-58.
- [96] R. Kleerebezem, a.M.C.v. Loosdrecht, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 18 (2007) 207-212.
- [97] T. Ishigaki, et al., Chemosphere 54 (2004) 225–233.
- [98] E.F. Gómez, a.F.C. Michel, Polym. Degrad. Stab. 98 (2013) 2583-2591.
- [99] Kelly, D.J., N. J. Hughes, and a.R.K. Poole, In Helicobacter pylori, American Society of Microbiology, 2001: p. 113–124.
- [100] K.H. Rostkowski, C.S. Criddle, a.M.D. Lepech, Environ. Sci. Technol. 46 (2012) 9822–9829.
- [101] J. Mergaert, Microbial degradation of poly (3-hydroxybutyrate) and poly(3hydroxybutyrateco-3-hydroxyvalerate) in compost, J. Environ. Polymer Degrad. 2 (1994) 177–183.
- [102] T. Kobayashi, et al., Purification and properties of an intracellular 3hydroxybutyrate-oligomer hydrolase (PhaZ2) in Ralstonia eutropha H16 and its identification as a novel intracellular poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) depolymerase, J. Bacteriol. 185 (12) (2003) 3485–3490.
- [103] G.N.M. Huijberts, Pseudomonas putida KT2442 cultivated on glucose accumulates poly(3-hydroxyalkanoates) consisting of saturated and unsaturated monomers, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58 (1992) 536–544.
- [104] R.D. Ashby, D.K.Y. Solaiman, a.T.A. Foglia, Synthesis of short—/medium-chainlength poly(hydroxyalkanoate) blends by mixed culture fermentation of glycerol, Biomacro 6 (4) (2005) 2106–2112.
- [105] R. Durner, Accumulation of poly [(R)-3-hydroxyalkanoates] in Pseudomonas oleovorans during growth in batch and chemostat culture with different carbon sources, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 72 (2001) 278–288.
- [106] A. Dufresne, a.E. Samain, Preparation and characterization of a poly(βhydroxyoctanoate) latex produced by Pseudomonas oleovorans, Macromol 31 (19) (1998) 6426-6433.
- [107] H. Hesham, et al., Optimization of a fed-batch fermentation process for production of bleomycin by Streptomyces mobaraensis, African J. of Biotechnol. 10 (9) (2011) 1690–1695.
- [108] S.T. Yu, C.C. Lin, a.J.R. Too, PHBV production by Ralstonia eutrophus in a continuous stirred tank reactor, Process Biochem. 40 (2005) 2729–2734.
- [109] P.F. Pind, I. Angelidaki, a.B.K. Ahring, A new VFA sensor technique for anaerobic reactor systems, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 82 (1) (2003) 54–61.
- [110] E.J. Aguirre-Ezkauriatza, Production of probiotic biomass (Lactobacillus casei) in goat milk whey: comparison of batch, continuous and fed-batch cultures, Bioresour. Technol. 101 (8) (2010) 2837–2844.
- [111] N. Jacquel, et al., Isolation and purification of bacterial poly(3-hydroxyalkanoates), Biochem. Eng. J. 39 (1) (2008) 15–27.
- [112] M.H.A. Ibrahim, a.A. Steinbüchel, Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) production from glycerol by Zobellella denitrificans MW1 via high-cell-density fed-batch fermentation and simplified solvent extraction, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75 (2009) 6222–6231.
- [113] M. Koller, H. Niebelschutz, a.G. Braunegg, Strategies for recovery and purification of poly[(R)-3-hydroxyalkanoates] (PHA) biopolyesters from surrounding biomass, Eng. Life and Sci. 13 (2013) 549–562.
- [114] Z. Dong, a.X. Sun, A new method of recovering polyhydroxyalkanoate from Azotobacter chroococcum, Chinese Sci. Bulletin 45 (3) (2000) 252–256.
- [115] P. Hejazi, E. Vasheghani-Farahani, a.Y. Yamini, Supercritical fluid disruption of Ralstonia eutropha for poly(β-hydroxybutyrate) recovery, Biotechnol. progress 19 (5) (2003) 1519–1523.
- [116] S.F. Williams, et al., Applications of Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) in Medicine and Pharmacy Biopoly. Online, Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim, Germany, 2005 91–127.
- [117] S. Pradhan, a.P.K. Dikshit, Production, ultrasonic extraction, and characterization of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) (PHB) using Bacillus megaterium and Cupriavidus necator, Poly. for adv. technol. 29 (8) (2018) 2392–2400.
- [118] J.Y. Chee, et al., The potential application of Cupriavidus necator as polyhydroxyalkanoates producer and single cell protein: a review on scientific, cultural and religious perspectives, Appl. Food Biotechnol. 6 (1) (2019) 19–34.
- [119] P. Murugan, et al., A new biological recovery approach for PHA using mealworm, Tenebrio molitor, J. Biotechnol. 239 (2016) 98–105.
- [120] K. Martin, Advances in Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) production, volume 2, Bioengineering 7 (1) (2020) 24.
- [121] R.Z. Sayyed, N.S. Gangurde, a.S.B. Chincholkar, Hypochlorite digestion method for efficient recovery of PHB from Alcaligenes faecalis, Indian J. Microbiol. 49 (2009) 230–232.
- [122] R.M. Smibert, Manual of Methods for General Bacteriology, American Society for Microbiol. Washington, D.C.General characterization, 1981 409–443.
- [123] A.G. Ostle, a.J.G. Holt, Nile blue A as a flourescent stain for poly 3-hydroxybutyrate, App. and Environ. Microbiol. 44 (1) (1982).
- [124] Maquelin, Prospective study of the performance of vibrational spectroscopies for rapid identification of bacterial and fungal pathogens recovered from blood cultures, J. Clin. Microbiol. 41 (2003) 324–329.
- [125] D. Helm, Classification and identification of bacteria by Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy, J. Gen. Microbiol. 137 (1991) 69–79.
- [126] G.S. Braunegg, B. Laffery, a.R.M.J. Appl, Rapid gas-chromatographic method for determination of poly-beta-hydroxybutyric acid in microbial biomass, Eur. J. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 6 (1978) 29.
- [127] D. Naumann, Infrared spectroscopy in microbiology, in: R.A. Meyers (Ed.), Incyclopedia of Analytical Chemistry: Applications, Theory, and Instrumentation, John Wiley and Sons Ltd, Chichester, United Kingdom 2000, pp. 102–131.
- [128] D. Helm, a.D. Naumann, Identification of some bacterial cell components by FT-IR spectroscopy, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 126 (1) (1995) 75–79.

- [129] S. Randriamahefa, Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy for screening and quantifying production of PHAs by Pseudomonas grown on sodium octanoate, Biomacromol 4 (4) (2003) 1092–1097.
- [130] K. Hong, A rapid method for detecting bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates in intact cells by Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy, App. Microbiol. and Biotechnol. 51 (4) (1991) 523–526.
- [131] M. Kansiz, Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy for monitoring and determining the degree of crystallisation of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs), Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 388 (2007) 1207–1213.
- [132] J. Xu, et al., In situ FTIR study on melting and crystallization of polyhydroxyalkanoates, Polymer 43 (25) (2002) 6893–6899.
- [133] W.E. Huang, Rapid characterization of microbial biodegradation pathways by FT-IR spectroscopy, J. of Microbiol. Methods 67 (2) (2006) 273–280.
- [134] D.B. Karr, J.K. Waters, a.D.W. Emerich, Analysis of poly-B-hydroxybutyrate in Rhizobium japonicum bacterioids by ion-exclusion high pressure liquid chromatography and UV detection, Appl. Env. Microbiol. 46 (1983) 1339–1344.
- [135] V. Riis, and a.W. Mai, Gas chromatographic determination of poly-βhydroxybutyric acid in microbial biomass after hydrochloric acid propanolysis, J. of Chromato. A 445 (0) (1988) 285–289.
- [136] Y. Lee, Preparation of alkyl (R)-3-hydroxybutyrate by acidic alcoholysis of poly-(R)-3-hydroxybutyrate, Enzy. and Microb. Technol. 27 (1–2) (2000) 33–36.
- [137] S. Jan, Study of parameters affecting poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) quantification by gas chromatography, Anal. Biochem. 225 (2) (1995) 258–263.
- [138] W.W.E. Christie, Advances in Lipid Methodology, Oily Press, Dundee, 1993 69–111.
 [139] P. Kahar, High yield production of polyhydroxyalkanoates from soybean oil by Ralstonia eutropha and its recombinant strain, Poly. Degrad. and Stab. 83 (1) (2004) 79.
- [140] M.V. Arcos-Hernandez, Rapid quantification of intracellular PHA using infrared spectroscopy: an application in mixed cultures, J. Biotechnol. 150 (3) (2010) 372–379.
- [141] C. Simon-Colin, A. novel mcl PHA-producing bacterium, Pseudomonas guezennei sp. nov., isolated from a 'kopara' mat located in Rangiroa, an atoll of French Polynesia, J. of App. Microbiol. 104 (2) (2008) 581–586.
- [142] R.H. Findlay, D.C. White, Polymeric Beta-Hydroxyalkanoates from environmental samples and Bacillus megaterium, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 45 (1) (1983) 71–78.
- [143] A.J. Anderson, E.A. Dawes, Occurrence, metabolism, metabolic role, and industrial uses of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 54 (4) (1990) 450–472.
- [144] A. Oehmen, Optimisation of poly-beta-hydroxyalkanoate analysis using gas chromatography for enhanced biological phosphorus removal systems, J. of Chromatography A 1070 (1–2) (2005) 131–136.
- [145] D. Baetens, Gas chromatographic analysis of polyhydroxybutyrate in activated sludge: a round-robin test, Water Sci. Technol. 46 (1–2) (2002) 357–361.
- [146] NIEHS, Report on Carcinogens, 10th ed. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program, 2000.
- [147] D.L. Kurdikar, et al., Method of PHA extraction and recovery using non-helogenated solvants. Monsanto Company US Patent: 6043063, 2000.
- [148] W.W. Christie, Alternatives to methyl esters for GC analysis of fatty acids, Lipid Technol. 7 (1995) 64–66.
- [149] A. Werker, et al., Chlorinated-solvent-free gas chromatographic analysis of biomass containing polyhydroxyalkanoates, Water Res. 42 (10–11) (2008) 2517–2526.
- [150] D.B. Karr, J.K.a. Waters, D.W. Emerich, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 46 (1983) 1339–1344.
- [151] L.D.R. Sergio, et al., Purification and characterization of polyhydroxybutyrate (phb) in Cupriavidus necator, Indo, J. Chem. 7 (3) (2007) 243–248.
- [152] P.I.F. Júnior, et al., Poly-β-hydroxybutyrate and exopolysaccharide biosynthesis by bacterial isolates from pigeonpea [Cajanus cajan (L.) Millsp] root nodules, Appl. Biochem. Biotech. 163 (2010) 473–484.
- [153] M. Farha, Y. Tariq, a.H. Abdul, Production and characterization of tailor-made Polyhydroxyalkanoates by Bacillus cereus FC11, Pakistan J. Zool. 47 (2) (2015) 491–503.
- [154] Y. Doi, et al., Nuclear magnetic resonance studies on unusual bacterial copolyesters of 3-hydroxybutyrate and 4-hydroxybutyrate, Macromol 21 (1988) 2722–2727.
- [155] S. Bioembergen, et al., Studies on composition and crystallinity of bacterial poly (Bhydroxybutyrate-co-B-hydroxyvalerate), Macromol 19 (1986) 2865–2871.
- [156] P. Kathryn, et al., Biosynthesis and characterization of Hydroxybuyurate copolymers, Int. J. of Biol. Macromol. 17 (2) (1995) 86–92.
- [157] R.A.C. Gross, et al., Biosynthesis and characterization of poly (B-hydroxyalkanoates) produced by Pseudomonas oleoverans, Macromol. 22 (1989) 1106–1115.
- [158] G.S. Jacob, J.R. Garbow, a.J. Schaefer, Direct measurement of poly (Bhydroxybutyrate) in Pseudomonas by solid state ¹³C NMR, J. Biol. Chem. 261 (1986) 16785–16787.
- [159] M. Doi, et al., Nuclear magnetic resonance studies on the poly-β-hydroxybutyrate and a copolyester of B-hydroxybutyrate and B-hydroxyvalerate isolated from Alcaligenes eutrophus H16, Macromol 19 (1986) 2860–2864.
- [160] Y. Doi, et al., Conformational analysis of poly (B-hydroxybutyrate) in Alcaligenes eutrophus by solid state ¹³C NMR spectroscopy, Macromol. Chemi. Rapid. Commun. 7 (1986) 661–664.
- [161] Y. Doi, et al., ¹H and ¹³C NMR analysis of poly (β-hydroxybutyrate) isolated from Bacillus megaterium, Macromol 19 (1986) 2860–2864.
- [162] F.C. Oliveira, et al., Characterization of poly (3-hydroxybutyrate) produced by Cupriavidus necator in solid-state fermentation, Bioresour. Technol. 98 (2007) 633–638.
- [163] D.A. Brinda, et al., Characterization of polyhydroxybutyrate synthesized by Bacillus cereus, Int J Pharm Pharm Sci 7 (3) (2015) 140–144.

- International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 166 (2021) 297-321
- [164] S. Jan, et al., 1H NMR spectroscopic determination of poly 3-hydroxybutyrate extracted from microbial biomass, Enzym. Microb. Technol. 18 (3) (1996) 195–201.
- [165] L. Elisebath, et al., Polyhydroxyalkanoate quantification in organic wastes and pure cultures using a single-step extraction and ¹H NMR analysis, Water Sci. & Technol. 66 (5) (2012).
- [166] P. Kumar, et al., Bioconversion of crude glycerol to polyhydroxyalkanoate by Bacillus thuringiensis under non-limiting nitrogen conditions, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 78 (2015) 9–16.
- [167] . Lau, N.S., K.K. Sam, and, and A.A.A. Amirul, Genome features of moderately halophilic polyhydroxyalkanoate-producing Yangia sp. CCB-MM3. Stand. Genomic Sci., 2017. 12: p. 12.
- [168] J. Tao, et al., Thermal properties and degradability of poly(propylene carbonate)/ poly(β-hydroxybutyrate-co-β-hydroxyvalerate) (PPC/PHBV) blends, Polym. Degrad. Stab.: p. 94 (2009) 575–583.
- [169] K. Madan, et al., Production and characterization of polyhydroxyalkanoate from lignin derivatives by Pandoraea sp. ISTKB, ACS Omega 2 (2017) 9156–9163.
- [170] P.J. Hocking, R. Marchessault, in: G.J.L. Griffin (Ed.), Chemistry and Technology of Biodegradable Polymers, Blackie Academic, New York 1994, pp. 48–96.
- [171] G.-Q. Chen, Q. Wu, The application of polyhydroxyalkanoates as tissue engineering materials, Biomaterials 26 (33) (2005) 6565–6578.
- [172] N. Yalpani, et al., Pathway of salicylic acid biosynthesis in healthy and virusinoculated tobacco, Plant Physiol. 103 (2) (1993) 315–321.
- [173] R. Sodian, S.P. Hoerstrup, a.J.S. Sperling, Tissue engineering of heart valves: in vitro experiences, Ann. Thorac. Surg. 70 (2000 a) 140–144.
- [174] G.Q. Chen, a.Q. Wu, Polyhydroxyalkanoates as tissue engineering materials Biomater. 26 (2005) 6565–6578.
- [175] L. Zheng, et al., Recent progress in polyhydroxyalkanoates-based copolymers for biomedical applications, Biotechnol. J. 14 (12) (2019) 1900283.
- [176] T. Volova, E.A. Shishatskaya, a.V. Sevastianov, Results of biomedical investigations of PHB and PHB/PHV fibers, Biochem. Eng. J. 16 (2003) 125–133.
- [177] T.P. Wu, P. Hu, a.X.B. Zhang, Biocompatibility of modified poly-betahydroxybutyric acid to adrenocortical cells, J. Wuhan Univ. Technol. Mater. Sci. 19 (2004) 38–40.
- [178] X.H. Qu, Q. Wu, a.G.Q. Chen, In vitro study on hemocompatibility and cytocompatibility of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyhexanoate), Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 17 (2006) 1107–1121.
- [179] J.Y. Sun, et al., Macroporous poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) matrices for cartilage tissue engineering, Eur. Poly. J. 41 (2005) 2443–2449.
- [180] C. Ye, P. Hub, a.M.X. Mac, PHB/PHBHHx scaffolds and human adipose-derived stem cells for cartilage tissue engineering, Biomater 30 (2009) 4401–4406.
- [181] S.F. Williams, et al., PHA applications: addressing the price performance issue: I. tissue engineering, Int. J. of Bio. Macromol. 25 (1999) 111–121.
- [182] M. Lobler, et al., Biomaterial implants induce the inflammation marker CRP at the site of implantation, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 61 (2003) 165–177.
- [183] P.X. Ma, Scaffold for tissue fabrication, Mater. Today 7 (2004) 30-40.
- [184] L. Wai, et al., Production of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) using sludge from different wastewater treatment processes and the potential for medical and pharmaceutical applications, Environmental Technol 38 (13–14) (2017) 1779–1791.
- [185] D.J. Du, K.S. Furukawa, a.T. Ushida, 3-D culture of osteoblast-like cells by unidirectional or oscillatory flow for bone tissue engineering, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 102 (2009) 1670–1678.
- [186] Y. Wang, et al., Evaluation of threedimensional scaffolds prepared from poly(3hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyhexanoate) for growth of allogeneic chondrocytes for cartilage repair in rabbits, Biomater 29 (2008) 2858–2868.
- [187] X.H. Qu, Q. Wu, a.j. Liang, Enhanced vascular-related cellular affinity on surface modified copolyesters of 3-hydroxybutyrate and 3-hydroxyhexanoate (PHBHHx), Biomater 26 (2005) 6991–7001.
- [188] K. Adriana, et al., Properties of scaffolds prepared by fused deposition modeling of poly(hydroxyalkanoates), Int. J. of Biol. Macromol. 161 (2020) 364–376.
- [189] D.C. Gaudio, L. Fioravanzo, a.M. Folin, Electrospun tubular scaffolds: on the effectiveness of blending poly(e-caprolactone) with poly (3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3hydroxyvalerate), J. of Biomed. Mater. Research Part B 100B (2012) 1883–1898.
- [190] D. Puppi, G. Pecorini, a.F. Chiellini, Biomedical processing of polyhydroxyalkanoates, Bioeng 6 (2019) 108.
- [191] L. Zibiao, et al., Novel amphiphilic poly(ester-urethane)s based on poly[(R)-3hydroxyalkanoate]: synthesis, biocompatibility and aggregation in aqueous solution, Polym. Int. 57 (6) (2008) 887–894.
- [192] P. Fu, R. Sodian, a.C. Luders, Effects of basic fibroblast growth factor and transforming growth factor-beta on maturation of human pediatric aortic cell culture for tissue engineering of cardiovascular structures, ASAIO J. 50 (2004) 9–14.
- [193] S. Wu, Y.L. Liu, a.B. Cui, Study on decellularized porcine aortic valve/poly (3hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyhexanoate) hybrid heart valve in sheep model, Artif. Organs 31 (2007) 689–697.
- [194] G. Adamus, W. Sikorska, a.H. Janeczek, Novel block copolymers of atactic PHB with natural PHA for cardiovascular engineering: synthesis and characterization, Eur. Poly. J. 48 (2012) 621–631.
- [195] H.Y. Tang, D. Ishii, a.A. Mahara, Scaffolds from electrospun polyhydroxyalkanoate copolymers: fabrication, characterization, bioabsorption and tissue response, Biomater 29 (2008) 1307–1317.
- [196] Y. Ji, X.T. Li, a.G.Q. Chen, Interactions between a poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3hydroxyvalerate-co- 3-hydroxyhexanoate) terpolyester and human keratinocytes, Biomater 29 (2008) 3807–3814.
- [197] P. Kuppan, K.S. Vasanthan, a.D. Sundaramurthi, Development of poly(3hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) fibers for skin tissue engineering: effects of topography, mechanical, and chemical stimuli, Biomacromol 12 (2011) 3156–3165.

- [198] B. Veleirinho, D.S. Coelho, a.P.F. Dias, Nanofibrous poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3hydroxyvalerate)/chitosan scaffolds for skin regeneration, Int. j. of Bio. and Macromol. 51 (2012) 343–350.
- [199] D. Sankar, et al., Fabrication of chitin/poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3hydroxyvalerate) hydrogel scaffold, Carbohyd. Polym. 90 (2012) 725–729.
- [200] X.H. Zhu, C.H. Wang, a.Y.W. Tong, Growing tissue-like constructs with Hep3B/ HepG2 liver cells on PHBV microspheres of different sizes, J. of Biomed. Mater. Research B 82B (2007) 7–16.
- [201] X.H. Zhu, C.H. Wang, a.Y.W. Tong, In vitro characterization of hepatocyte growth factor release from PHBV/PLGA microsphere scaffold, Biomed. Mater. Res. 89A (2009) 411–423.
- [202] P.N. Mohanna, et al., A composite poly-hydroxybutyrate-glial growth factor conduit for long nerve gap repairs, J. Anat. 203 (2003) 553–565.
- [203] Y.Z. Bian, Y. Wang, a.S. Guli, Evaluation of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3hydroxyhexanoate) conduits for peripheral nerve regeneration, Biomater 30 (2009) 217–225.
- [204] Y. Gao, L. Kong, a.L. Zhang, Improvement of mechanical properties of poly (DLlactide) films by blending of poly (3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyhexanoate), Eur. Poly. J. 42 (2006) 764–775.
- [205] D. Yucel, G.T. Kose, V. Hasirci, Polyester based nerve guidance conduit design, Biomater 31 (2010) 1596–1603.
- [206] M.P. Prabhakaran, E. Vatankhah, a.S. Ramakrishna, Electrospun aligned PHBV/collagen nanofibers as substrates for nerve tissue engineering, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 110 (10) (2013) 2775–2784.
- [207] E. Masaeli, et al., Fabrication, characterization and cellular compatibility of poly (Hydroxy Alkanoate) composite Nanofibrous scaffolds for nerve tissue engineering, PLoS One 8 (2) (2013) 57157.
- [208] Y.W. Wang, Q. Wu, a.G.Q. Chen, Attachment, proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts on random biopolyester poly (3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyhexanoate) scaffolds, Biomater 25 (2004) 669–675.
- [209] H. Li, a.J. Chang, Preparation, characterization and in vitro release of gentamicin from PHBV/wollastonite composite microspheres, J. Control. Release 107 (2005) 463–473.
- [210] S.M. Cool, B. Kenny, a.A. Wu, Poly(3-hydroxybutyrateco-3-hydroxyvalerate) composite biomaterials for bone tissue regeneration, in vitro performance assessed by osteoblast proliferation, osteoclast adhesion and resorption, and macrophage pro-inflammatory response, J. Biomed. Mater. Research A 82A (2007) 599–610.
- [211] A.N. Hayati, et al., Characterization of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate)/nano-hydroxyapatite composite scaffolds fabricated without the use of organic solvents for bone tissue engineering application, Mater. Sci. Eng. C. 32 (2012) 416–422.
- [212] J.M. Hyo, et al., Nanocomposite versus mesocomposite for osteogenic differentiation of tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem cells, Adv. Healthcare Mater. 5 (3) (2016) 353–363.
- [213] N. Sultana, Production and characterization of tissue engineering scaffolds based on polyhydroxybutyrate-co-hydroxyvalerate polymers, 2012 International Conference on Biomedical Engineering (ICoBE), Penang 2012, pp. 129–132, https://doi. org/10.1109/ICoBE.2012.6178969.
- [214] S.K. Misra, T.I. Ansari, a.S.P. Valappil, Poly (3-hydroxybutyrate) multifunctional composite scaffolds for tissue engineering applications, Biomater 31 (2010) 2806–2815.
- [215] J. Yu, a.H.A. Stahl, Microbial utilization and biopolyester synthesis of bagasse hydrolysates, Bioresour. Technol. 99 (2008) 8042–8048.
- [216] C. Li, J. Zhang, a.Y. Yu, Poly (L-lactide-co-caprolactone) scaffolds enhanced with poly (3-hydroxybutyrate-co-hydroxyvalerate) microspheres for cartilage regeneration. Biomed, Mater. 8 (025005) (2013) 1–8.
- [217] J. Gabriel, The Biology of Cancer, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 2007.

- [218] A. Rodríguez-Contreras, Recent advances in the use of polyhydroyalkanoates in biomedicine, Bioengineering 6 (2019) 82.
- [219] Mendes, J.B.E., M.K. Riekes, and a.V.M. Oliveira, PHBV/PCL microparticles for controlled release of resveratrol: physicochemical characterization, antioxidant potential, and effect on hemolysis of human erythrocytes. Scient. World J. Art. ID 2012. 54 (2937): p. 1–13.
- [220] X.Y. Lu, Y. Zhang, a.L. Wang, Preparation and in vitro drug-release behavior of 5fluorouracil-loaded poly(hydroxybutyrate-co-hydroxyhexanoate) nanoparticles and microparticles, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 116 (2010) 2944–2950.
- [221] M. Potter, a.A. Steinbuchel, Poly (3-hydroxybutyrate) granule associated proteins: impacts on poly (3-hydroxybutyrate) synthesis and degradation, Biomacromol 6 (2005) 552-560.
- [222] J. Lu, et al., PHA-based thermogel as a controlled zero-order chemotherapeutic delivery system for the effective treatment of melanoma. ACS App, Bio Mater. 2 (8) (2019) 3591–3600.
- [223] Z. Luo, et al., Surfactant free delivery of docetaxel by poly[(R)-3hydroxybutyrate-(R)-3-hydroxyhexanoate]-based polymeric micelles for effective melanoma treatments, Adv. Healthc. Mater. 7 (2018) 1801221.
- [224] Y.C. Xiong, et al., Application of polyhydroxyalkanoates nanoparticles as intracellular sustained drugrelease vectors, Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 21 (2010) 127–140.
- [225] F. Masood, P. Chen, a.N. Fatima, Encapsulation of ellipticine in poly(3hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) nanoparticles and its in vitro application, Mater. Sci. Eng. C. 33 (2013) 1054–1060.
- [226] M. Shah, M.I. Naseer, a.M.H. Choi, Amphiphilic PHA-mPEG copolymeric nanocontainers for drug delivery: preparation, characterization and in vitro evaluation, Int. J. Pharm. 400 (2010) 165–175.
- [227] M. Shah, N. Ullah, a.M.H. Choi, Amorphous amphiphilic P(3HV-co-4HB)-b-mPEG block copolymer synthesized from bacterial copolyester via melt transesterification: nanoparticle preparation. Pharm, Biopharm. 80 (2012) 518–527.
- [228] K. Numata, K. Yamashita, a.M. Fujita, Adsorption and hydrolysis reactions of poly (hydroxybutyric acid) depolymerases secreted from Ralstonia pickettii T1 and Penicillium funiculosum onto poly [(R)-3-hydroxybutyric acid], Biomacromol 8 (2007) 2276–2281.
- [229] K.a. Jud, H.H. Kausch, Load transfer through chain molecules after interpenetration at interfaces, Polym. Bull. 1 (1979) 697–707.
- [230] R.P.a. Wool, K.M. OConnor, A theory of crack healing in polymers, J. Appl. Phys. 52 (1981) 5953–5963.
- [231] . De Gennes, P.G.a A. and Hebd., Seances Acad Sci, Ser B, 1980. 291: p. 219.
- [232] S.a. Prager, M. Tirrell, The healing process at polymer-polymer interfaces, J. Chem. Phys. 75 (1981) 5194–5198.
- [233] M.a. Doi, S.F. Edwards, Dynamics of concentrated polymer systems, J. Chem. Soc: Faradays Trans 2 (74) (1978) 1789–1801.
- [234] Y.H.a. Kim, I.R.P. Woo, A theory of healing at a polymer-polymer interface, Macromolecules 16 (1983) 1115–1120.
- [235] C.-M. Chung, et al., Crack healing in polymeric materials via photochemical [2+2] cycloaddition, Chem. Mater. 16 (2004) 3982–3984.
- [236] J.a. Paczkowski, J.C. Salamone, Polymeric Materials Encyclopedia, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1996 5142.
- [237] M. Hasegawa, et al., Topochemical photoreactions of unsymmetrically substituted diolefins. 2. Photopolymerization of 4-(alkoxycarbonyl)- 2,5-distyrylpyrazines, Macromol 21 (1988) 3134–3138.
- [238] K. Takeda, Self repairing materials and reliability of industrial goods; natureguided materials, International Symposium on Micromechatronics and Human Science, Nagoya, Japan, IEEE 2003, pp. 23–28, Catalog Number: 03TH8717.
- [239] K. Takeda, M.a. Tanahashi, H. Unno, Self-repairing mechanism of plastics, Sci. Tech. Adv. Mater. 4 (2003) 435–444.